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PAYMENT OF EXPENSES AND 
PROVISION OF FACILITIES FOR 
COUNCILLORS POLICY 
 
Adoption Date: 10 October 2016 
 
Review Date:  10 October 2017 
 
Responsible Officer: General Manager 
 

 

POLICY STATEMENT 
 

 

The purpose of this policy is to ensure that there is accountability and transparency in 
the reimbursement of expenses incurred or to be incurred by Councillors. The policy 
also ensures that the facilities provided to assist Councillors to carry out their civic 
duties are reasonable. 

 

 

OBJECTIVES 
 

 To ensure that the details and range of expenses paid and facilities provided to 
the Councillors by the Council are clearly and specifically stated, fully 
appropriate to the importance of office, are consistently applied and transparent, 
and are acceptable to the community. 

 

 

 To ensure that the Councillors are reimbursed for expenses reasonably incurred 
in the performance of their roles as a Councillor. 

 

 

 To ensure that election to Council is open to all by ensuring that no one would 
be financially or otherwise disadvantaged in undertaking the civic duties of a 
Councillor.
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1.  Background 

Councillors  must  act  lawfully,  honestly  and  exercise  a  reasonable  degree  of  care  and 

diligence in carrying out their functions under the Local Government Act 1993 or any other Act. 

This is required under section 439 of the Local Government Act 1993 and reinforced in the 

Code of Conduct made under section 440. 

 
The purpose of this policy is to establish, where practicable, clear limits for all expenses and 

facilities, including a process for the approval, reconciliation and reimbursement for all such 

expenses and facilities. Councillors can only receive reimbursement for expenses and the 

use of facilities clearly identified in this Policy. 

 
This policy does not permit a private benefit (other than a non-incidental private benefit) to 

be gained from expenses and facilities nor does it permit the payment of a general expense 

allowance. 

 
Councillor annual fees do not fall within the scope of this policy. 

 
This  policy  has  been  prepared  in  accordance  with  the  requirements  of  the  Local 

Government Act 1993 and the ‘Guidelines for the payment of expenses and the provision of 

facilities for mayors and Councillors in NSW’ in effect at the time of adoption by Council. 

This policy only applies in relation to Council business or related social activities/functions. 

For  the  purposes  of  this  policy,  the  Council  Christmas  celebration  or  other  equivalent 

function is deemed to be a Council related social function. 
 

 

2.  Payment of Expenses 
 

2.1 General 

Reimbursement of costs and expenses will only be made: 

 
1.      in accordance with the monetary limits prescribed in this policy, and 

2. on lodgment of a completed Claim Form within three months of the cost or expense 

being incurred, such Claim Form including, unless required otherwise by this policy: 

    an itemised account of the expenditure, and 

    valid GST receipts. 
 

For periods less than a full year, for example, after a local government general election, the 

reimbursement of costs and expenses will be calculated on a pro rata basis. 

 
Reasonable out  of  pocket  or  incidental travel expenses  incurred (such  as  telephone or 

facsimile calls, refreshments, internet charges, taxi fares, parking fees and tolls) will be 

reimbursed subject to production of valid GST receipts or a signed statutory declaration 

itemising the expenses. 
 

2.2 Advance Payment 

Advance  payment  for  meals  and  incidentals  by  cheque or EFT  is  available  provided  a 

completed Claim Form has been lodged with sufficient notice to allow for preparation of the 

advance.  Payment for meals will not exceed the maximum allowable rates prescribed in the 

Australian Taxation Office (ATO) ‘Reasonable Travel and Meal Allowance Expenses’ 

Determination, as applicable for the date of travel.
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A  full  reconciliation  of all  expenses  incurred  (including valid  GST  receipts)  against  the 

amount of the advance must be provided within two weeks of return from the event.   All unspent 

funds must be returned. 
 

 
 

2.3 Specific 
 

2.3.1 Conferences, seminars, training and educational expenses and approval of 
attendance 

Attendance at conferences and seminars must be approved by Council in advance of the event. 

If  time  does  not  permit,  then  the  General  Manager  and  Chairperson  or  Deputy 

Chairperson  (for  attendance  by the  Chairperson)  may approve  such  attendance,  taking 

account of: relevance; benefit to Council; and budget availability. 

 
Where staff does not attend an event, the Councillor on return from the event must provide a 

written report to Council detailing highlights and in particular, aspects of the event relevant to 

Council business and/or the local community. 

 
2.3.2 Registration, accommodation and air travel 

All bookings are to be arranged through the Administration Officer. 

 
Payment for registration, accommodation and air travel must: 

    wherever possible, be paid direct by Council to the provider; and 
    not exceed the maximum allowable rates prescribed in the Australian Taxation Office 

(ATO) ‘Reasonable Travel and Meal Allowance Expenses’ Determination, as applicable 
from time to time. 

 
2.4 Meals 

The cost of meals not provided as part of the registration fee or accommodation package will 

be reimbursed in accordance with maximum allowable rates prescribed in the Australian 

Taxation Office (ATO) ‘Reasonable Travel and Meal Allowance Expenses’ Determination, 

as applicable from time to time. 

 
If  valid GST receipts are not provided then reimbursement will be at 50% of the ATO 

‘Reasonable Travel and Meal Allowance Expenses’ Determination rate. 
 

2.5 Spouse or partner expenses 

Council will meet the reasonable costs of the spouse or partner or an accompanying person 

of a Councillor for attendance at an official Council function within the local government area 

that are of a formal or ceremonial nature.  Reasonable costs are limited to the ticket, meal 

and/or  direct  cost  of  attending  the  function.  Peripheral  expenses  incurred  by  spouses, 

partners or accompanying persons such as grooming, special clothing and transport are not 

reimbursable expenses. 

 
2.6 Travelling expenses 

 
2.6.1 General 

The driver is personally responsible for all traffic or parking fines incurred while travelling in 

private or Council vehicles. 

 
When travelling by car every attempt must be made to car pool with other Councillors or 

Council staff.
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2.6.2 Travel 

All travel relating to Council business must be undertaken by utilising the most direct route 

and the most practicable and economical mode of transport subject to any personal medical 

considerations. 
A  Councillor  that  travels  using  their  private  car  will  be  reimbursed  at  the  appropriate 

kilometer  rate  in  accordance  with  the  Local  Government  (State)  Award 2014  or  airfare 

rate, whichever is the lower.   Evidence of current vehicle registration and compulsory third 

party insurance coverage must be provided to the General Manager prior to travel. 

Alternative methods of transport will be reimbursed following the production of valid GST 

receipts. 
 

2.6.3 Overseas travel 

International travel relating to Council business must be avoided unless it can be demonstrated 

that direct and tangible benefits can be established for both the Council and local community.  

The travel must be documented in a Report to Council and considered and approved by a full 

meeting of the Council prior to the travel being undertaken. 

 
The Report must identify the Councillors nominated to undertake the travel and detail the 

purpose of the travel and expected benefits derived from the travel.  The duration, itinerary 

and approximate total cost of the visit must also be provided. 
 

2.7 Care and other related expenses 

Councillors will be entitled to claim reimbursement for the reasonable cost of care arrangements 

to allow the performance of  normal  civic  duties  and  responsibilities  while attending: 

1.      Council meetings; 

2.      Council Committee meetings; 

3.      Other essential Council related business (for example, conference, seminars, briefing 

sessions/workshops called by Council, the Chairperson or the General Manager). 

 
This includes reimbursement for up to one hour before and after an event. 

 
‘Care  and  other  related  expenses’  means  childcare  expenses  and  the  care  of  elderly, 

disabled and/or sick immediate family members of Councillors.  Childcare expenses will only 

be reimbursed in relation to children of the Councillor that are up to and including the age of 
16 years. 

 
The  cost  of  care arrangements will be reimbursed  up  to  $1,000 per financial year  per 

Councillor, subject to lodgment of a completed Claim Form supported by valid GST receipts 

and details of the Council related activity that was attended.  Expenses are not reimbursable 

if care is provided by an immediate family member, spouse or partner or someone who 

ordinarily resides with the Councillor. 

 
Council will make provision for the payment of other related expenses associated with the 

special requirements of Councillors such as disability and access needs, to allow them to 

perform their normal civic duties and responsibilities.  For any Councillor with a disability, the 

Council may resolve to provide reasonable additional facilities and expenses which may be 

necessary for the performance of their duties. 

 
2.8 Use of Council resources 

Councillors must not, as a result of Council funded and approved expenditure, obtain more than 

incidental private benefit from the provision of equipment and facilities.   This includes
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travel bonuses such as ‘frequent flyer’ schemes or any other such loyalty programs.   It is 

acknowledged that incidental use of Council equipment and facilities may occur from time to 

time.   Such incidental use is not subject to a compensatory payment to Council.   Where 

more substantial private use does occur, reimbursement to Council of the value of that 

private use is required.     The value of ‘private use’ in this context is the proportional private 

use/business use percentage. 

 
Any resources provided under this Policy must not be used for personal interests.    This 

includes but is not limited to the following: a Councillors re-election; any political party event 

or activity. 
 

 
 
 

2.9 Giving of gifts and benefits 

Where it is appropriate for a Councillor to give a gift or benefit (for example, on a Council 

business related trip or when receiving visitors), these gifts and benefits should be of a token 

value only (refer to Council’s Code of Conduct). 

 
 
Version 

 
Adopted Date 

 
Minute No 

 
Details of Review 

 
1 

 
10 October 2016 

  
Adoption of Revised 
Policy 
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Castlereagh Macquarie County Council is constituted under the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW) and has its principal place
of business at:

Overview

77 Fox Street
WALGETT. NSW 2832

Council’s guiding principles are detailed in Chapter 3 of the LGA and includes:

• principles applying to the exercise of functions generally by council,
• principles to be applied when making decisions,
• principles of community participation,
• principles of sound financial management, and
• principles for strategic planning relating to the development of an integrated planning and reporting framework.

A description of the nature of Council’s operations and its principal activities are provided in Note 2(b).

Through the use of the internet, we have ensured that our reporting is timely, complete and available at minimum cost. All
press releases, financial statements and other information are publicly available on our website: www.cmcc.nsw.gov.au.
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Each year, individual Local Governments across NSW are required to present a set of audited financial statements to their
council and community.

§Subnote§

Introduction

The financial statements set out the financial performance, financial position and cash flows of Council for the financial year
ended 30 June 2020.

What you will find in the Statements

The format of the financial statements is standard across all NSW Councils and complies with both the accounting and reporting
requirements of Australian Accounting Standards and requirements as set down by the Office of Local Government.

The financial statements must be certified by senior staff as ‘presenting fairly’ the Council’s financial results for the year and
are required to be adopted by Council – ensuring both responsibility for and ownership of the financial statements.

About the Councillor/Management Statement

The financial statements incorporate five "primary" financial statements:

1. The Income Statement

About the Primary Financial Statements

Summarises Council's financial performance for the year, listing all income and expenses. This statement also displays
Council's original adopted budget to provide a comparison between what was projected and what actually occurred.

2. The Statement of Comprehensive Income
Primarily records changes in the fair value of Council's Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment.

3. The Statement of Financial Position
A 30 June snapshot of Council's financial position indicating its assets, liabilities and “net wealth”.

4. The Statement of Changes in Equity
The overall change for the year (in dollars) of Council's "net wealth".

5. The Statement of Cash Flows
Indicates where Council's cash came from and where it was spent. This statement also displays Council's original adopted
budget to provide a comparison between what was projected and what actually occurred.

The Notes to the Financial Statements provide greater detail and additional information on the five primary financial statements.

About the Notes to the Financial Statements

Council’s financial statements are required to be audited by the NSW Audit Office.

About the Auditor's Reports

In NSW the auditor provides 2 audit reports:

1. an opinion on whether the financial statements present fairly the Council’s financial performance and position, and
2. their observations on the conduct of the audit, including commentary on the Council’s financial performance and financial

position.

The financial statements are publicly available documents and must be presented at a Council meeting between seven days
and five weeks after the date of the audit report.

The public can make submissions to Council up to seven days subsequent to the public presentation of the financial statements.

Council is required to forward an audited set of financial statements to the Office of Local Government.

Who uses the Financial Statements?

Castlereagh Macquarie County Council

General Purpose Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Understanding Council's Financial Statements

Page 3 of 51

Financial Statements 2020Castlereagh Macquarie County Council
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Statement by Councillors and Management made pursuant to Section 413(2)(c) of the Local
Government Act 1993 (NSW) (as amended)

§Subnote§

The attached General Purpose Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with:

• the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW) (as amended) and the regulations made thereunder,

• the Australian Accounting Standards and other pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board

• the Local Government Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, these statements:

• present fairly the Council’s operating result and financial position for the year

• accord with Council’s accounting and other records.

We are not aware of any matter that would render these statements false or misleading in any way.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Council made on 16th November 2020.

Councillor Doug Batten
Chairperson
Dated:

Councillor Peter Shinton
Deputy Chairperson
Dated:

Michael J Urquhart
General Manager
Dated:

Michael J Urquhart
Responsible Accounting Officer
Dated:

Castlereagh Macquarie County Council

General Purpose Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Page 4 of 51
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§Statement§

Original 
unaudited 

budget
  

Actual Actual
2020 2020 2019

$ '000 Notes $ '000 $ '000

Income from continuing operations   
4 User charges and fees 3a 38 52

15 Other revenues 3b 8 10
1,104 Grants and contributions provided for operating purposes 3c,3d 915 1,107

3 Interest and investment income 4 2 10
1 Net gains from the disposal of assets 6 31 29

1,127 Total income from continuing operations 994 1,208

Expenses from continuing operations   
718 Employee benefits and on-costs 5a 639 547
307 Materials and contracts 5b 231 24

60 Depreciation and amortisation 5c 86 58
205 Other expenses 5d 194 197

1,290 Total expenses from continuing operations 1,150 826

(163) Operating result from continuing operations (156) 382

(163) Net operating result for the year (156) 382

  
29 Net operating result attributable to council (156) 382

29 Net operating result for the year before grants and contributions 
provided for capital purposes (156) 382

The Council has not restated comparatives when initially applying AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities, AASB 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers and AASB 16 Leases. The comparative information has been prepared under AASB 111 Construction
Contracts, AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 1004 Contributions, AASB 117 Leases and related Accounting Interpretations.

The above Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Castlereagh Macquarie County Council

Income Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2020
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Actual Actual
2020 2019

$ '000 $ '000

§Subnote§

Net operating result for the year (as per Income Statement) (156) 382

Total comprehensive income for the year (156) 382

 
Total comprehensive income attributable to Council (156) 382

The Council has not restated comparatives when initially applying AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities, AASB 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers and AASB 16 Leases. The comparative information has been prepared under AASB 111 Construction
Contracts, AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 1004 Contributions, AASB 117 Leases and related Accounting Interpretations.

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Castlereagh Macquarie County Council

Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2020
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§Statement§

  Actual Actual
2020 2019

Notes $ '000 $ '000

ASSETS   
Current assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 7(a) 841 936
Investments 7(b) 121 121
Receivables 8 42 27
Inventories 9 20 33
Total current assets 1,024 1,117

Non-current assets   
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 10 283 257
Right of use assets 11a 24 –
Total non-current assets 307 257

Total assets 1,331 1,374

LIABILITIES   
Current liabilities   
Payables 12 129 29
Lease liabilities 11b 5 –
Provisions 13 131 133
Total current liabilities 265 162

Non-current liabilities   
Payables 12 2 –
Lease liabilities 11b 19 –
Provisions 13 – 11
Total non-current liabilities 21 11

Total liabilities 286 173

Net assets 1,045 1,201

EQUITY   
Accumulated surplus 861 1,017
Revaluation reserves 184 184
Council equity interest 1,045 1,201

Total equity 1,045 1,201

The Council has not restated comparatives when initially applying AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities, AASB 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers and AASB 16 Leases. The comparative information has been prepared under AASB 111 Construction
Contracts, AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 1004 Contributions, AASB 117 Leases and related Accounting Interpretations.

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Castlereagh Macquarie County Council

Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 2020
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as at 30/06/20 as at 30/06/19

Accumulated
surplus

IPP&E 
revaluation 

reserve

Total
equity Accumulated

surplus

IPP&E 
revaluation 

reserve

Total
equity

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

§Subnote§

Changes due to AASB 1058 and AASB 15 adoption – – – – – –
Changes due to AASB 16 adoption – – – – – –
Opening balance 1,017 184 1,201 635 184 819

Net operating result for the year (156) – (156) 382 – 382
Restated net operating result for the period (156) – (156) 382 – 382

Total comprehensive income (156) – (156) 382 – 382

Equity – balance at end of the reporting period 861 184 1,045 1,017 184 1,201

The Council has not restated comparatives when initially applying AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities, AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 16 Leases. The comparative
information has been prepared under AASB 111 Construction Contracts, AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 1004 Contributions, AASB 117 Leases and related Accounting Interpretations.

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Castlereagh Macquarie County Council

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2020
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§Statement§

Original 
unaudited 

budget
  

Actual Actual
2020 2020 2019

$ '000 Notes $ '000 $ '000

Cash flows from operating activities   
Receipts:   

4 User charges and fees 38 52
3 Investment and interest revenue received 2 10

1,104 Grants and contributions 929 1,103
15 Other (21) 169

Payments:   
(718) Employee benefits and on-costs (652) (639)
(307) Materials and contracts (218) (25)
(205) Other (92) (192)

(104)
Net cash provided (or used in) operating 
activities

14b

(14) 478

Cash flows from investing activities   
Receipts:   

20 Sale of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 31 29
Payments:   

– Purchase of investment securities – (121)
(73) Purchase of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment (112) (52)
(53) Net cash provided (or used in) investing activities (81) (144)

(157) Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (95) 334

927 Plus: cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year 14a 936 602
770 Cash and cash equivalents – end of the year 14a 841 936

  
– plus: Investments on hand – end of year 7(b) 121 121

770 Total cash, cash equivalents and investments 962 1,057

The Council has not restated comparatives when initially applying AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities, AASB 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers and AASB 16 Leases. The comparative information has been prepared under AASB 111 Construction
Contracts, AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 1004 Contributions, AASB 117 Leases and related Accounting Interpretations.

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Castlereagh Macquarie County Council

Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2020
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These financial statements were authorised for issue by Council on 23 September, 2019

§Subnote§

Council has the power to amend and reissue these financial statements.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.

These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and
Australian Accounting Interpretations, the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW) and Regulations, and the Local Government
Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting.

Council is a not for-profit entity.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars.

(a) Historical cost convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of 
certain financial assets and liabilities and certain classes of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment and investment 
property.

(b) Significant accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Council's accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the Council and that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances.

Council makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year include:

(i) estimated fair values of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment – refer Note 9
(ii) employee benefit provisions – refer Note 11.

continued on next page ... 

Castlereagh Macquarie County Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 1. Basis of preparation

Page 11 of 51

Financial Statements 2020Castlereagh Macquarie County Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 1. Basis of preparation

19



Significant judgements in applying the council's accounting policies

(i) Impairment of receivables

Council has made a significant judgement about the impairment of a number of its receivables – refer Note 7.

In accordance with the provisions of Section 409(1) of the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW), all money and property received
by Council is held in the Council’s Consolidated Fund unless it is required to be held in the Council’s Trust Fund.

Monies and other assets received by Council

(a) The Consolidated Fund

Cash and other assets of the following entities have been included as part of the Consolidated Fund:

◾ General purpose operations

In accordance with the provisions of Section 411 of the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW) (as amended), a separate and
distinct Trust Fund is maintained to account for all money and property received by the council in trust which must be applied
only for the purposes of, or in accordance with, the trusts relating to those monies.

(b) The Trust Fund

A separate statement of monies held in the Trust Fund is available for inspection at the council office by any person free of
charge

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not
recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part
of the expense.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable
from, or payable to the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the Statement of Financial Position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities
that are recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are presented as operating cash flows.

Volunteer services

Council does not engage volunteers

New accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

New accounting standards and interpretations issued not yet effective

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations (ie. pronouncements) have been published by the Australian Accounting
Standards Board that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2020 reporting period.

Council has elected not to apply any of these pronouncements in these financial statements before their operative dates.

Council's assessment of these new standards and interpretations (where they have been deemed as having a material impact
on Council's future financial performance, financial positon and cash flows) are set out below:

AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors
AASB 2018–5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Deferral of AASB 1059
AASB 2019-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Implementation of AASB 1059

This standard provides guidance for public sector entities (grantors) who have entered into service concession arrangements
with private sector operators.

continued on next page ... 
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AASB 1059 requires grantors to recognise a service concession asset and, in most cases, a corresponding liability on the
balance sheet.

A control approach is used to assess the service concession arrangements in place.

On initial recognition the asset is measured at current replacement cost based on AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and
existing assets of the grantors are reclassified at the date of transition.

After initial recognition, the grantor accounts for the assets under either AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment or AASB
138 Intangible Assets.

The nature of the consideration given to the operator will affect whether the grantor applies either the ‘financial liability’ or the
‘grant of right’ model for the recognition of the liability.

AASB 2019-2 makes amendments to the recognition and measurement of the asset and liability where the modified
retrospective approach to transition is being used and provides a practical expedient due to the different effective dates of
AASB 16 and AASB 1059.

Council does not expect any material impact to future financial statements as we do not generally enter into service
concession arrangements.

This standard has an effective date for the 30 June 2021 reporting period.

During the year Council adopted the following accounting standards and interpretations (as issued by the Australian Accounting
Standards Board) which were mandatorily effective from 1 July 2019:

New accounting standards adopted during the year

◾ AASB 16 Leases
◾ AASB 15 Revenue from contracts with customers and associated amending standards.
◾ AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-profit entities

Further information on the newly adopted standards which had a material impact on Council's reported financial position,
financial performance and/or associated financial statement disclosures can be found at Note 18.
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§Note/Subtotal§
§Subnote§

Income, expenses and assets have been directly attributed to the following functions or activities.
Details of those functions or activities are provided in Note 2(b).

Income from 
continuing operations

Expenses from 
continuing operations

Operating result from 
continuing operations

Grants included 
in income from 

continuing operations Carrying amount of assets
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Functions or activities
Governance – – 11 15 (11) (15) – – – –
Administration 12 22 245 196 (233) (174) – – – –
Environment 982 1,306 894 735 88 571 367 581 1,307 1,374
Other – – – – – – – – 24 –
Total functions and activities 994 1,328 1,150 946 (156) 382 367 581 1,331 1,374

Castlereagh Macquarie County Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 2(a). Council functions/activities – financial information

Page 14 of 51

Financial Statements 2020Castlereagh Macquarie County Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 2(a). Council functions/activities – financial information

22



§Note/Subtotal§

GOVERNANCE

§Subnote§

Includes costs related to Council's role as a component of democratic government, members' fees and expenses, subcriptions
to local authority associations,meeting of Council and policy-making committees, public disclosure (e.g. GIPA) and legislative
compliance.

ADMINISTRATION

Includes corporate support and other support services and any Council policy compliance.

ENVIRONMENT

Includes priority/noxious plants and insect/vermin control, other environmental protection.

Castlereagh Macquarie County Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
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§Note/Subtotal§

2020 2019
Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000

(a) User charges and fees

§Subnote§

Other user charges and fees
(i) Fees and charges – statutory and regulatory functions (per s.608)
Private works – section 67 35 50
Weeds certificates 1 2
Total fees and charges – statutory/regulatory 36 52

(ii) Fees and charges – other (incl. general user charges (per s.608))
Sundry sales 2 –
Total fees and charges – other 2 –

TOTAL USER CHARGES AND FEES 38 52

The AASB notation (above) identifies the revenue recognition pattern for material items of Council revenue:

15 (1) indicates income recognised under AASB 15 “at a point in time”,
1058 (1) indicates income recognised under AASB 1058 “at a point in time”, while

Revenue arising from user charges and fees is recognised when or as the performance obligation is completed and the
customer receives the benefit of the goods / services being provided.

Accounting policy for user charges and fees

The performance obligation relates to the specific services which are provided to the customers and generally the payment
terms are within 30 days of the provision of the service or in some cases such as caravan parks, the customer is required to
pay on arrival. There is no material obligation for Council in relation to refunds or returns.

2019 accounting policy
User charges and fees are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided.

Castlereagh Macquarie County Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020
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§Note/Subtotal§

2020 2019
Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000

(b) Other revenues

Insurance claims recoveries 7 10
Sales – general 1 –

TOTAL OTHER REVENUE 8 10

The AASB notation (above) identifies the revenue recognition pattern for material items of Council revenue:

15 (1) indicates income recognised under AASB 15 “at a point in time”,
1058 (1) indicates income recognised under AASB 1058 “at a point in time”, while

Accounting policy for other revenue
Where the revenue relates to a contract with customer, the revenue is recognised when or as the performance obligation is
completed and the customer receives the benefit of the goods / services being provided.

Where the revenue relates to a contract which is not enforceable or does not contain sufficiently specific performance
obligations then revenue is recognised when an unconditional right to a receivable arises or the cash is received, which is
earlier.

2019 accounting policy:
Council recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to the Council and specific criteria have been met for each of the Council’s activities as described below. Council
bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics
of each arrangement.

Miscellaneous sales are recognised when physical possession has transferred to the customer which is deemed to be the 
point of transfer of risks and rewards.

Other income is recorded when the payment is due, the value of the payment is notified, or the payment is received, 
whichever occurs first.
 

Operating Operating Capital Capital
2020 2019 2020 2019

Actual Actual Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

(c) Grants

§Subnote§

Specific purpose
Noxious weeds 367 581 – –
Total specific purpose 367 581 – –

Total grants 367 581 – –

Grant revenue is attributable to:
– State funding 367 581 – –

367 581 – –
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§Note/Subtotal§

Operating Operating Capital Capital
2020 2019 2020 2019

Actual Actual Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

(d) Contributions

Other contributions:
Cash contributions
Hudson pear contributions 9 – – –
Other councils – joint works/services 539 526 – –
Total other contributions – cash 548 526 – –

Total other contributions 548 526 – –

Total contributions 548 526 – –

TOTAL GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS 915 1,107 – –

Control over grants and contributions is normally obtained upon their receipt (or acquittal) and revenue is recognised at this
time and is valued at the fair value of the granted or contributed asset at the date of transfer.

Accounting policy for grants and contributions

Where grants or contributions recognised as revenues during the financial year were obtained on condition that they be
expended in a particular manner, or used over a particular period, and those conditions were un-discharged at reporting date,
the unused grant or contribution is disclosed below.

A liability is recognised in respect of revenue that is reciprocal in nature to the extent that the requisite service has not been
provided at reporting date.
 

2020 2019
Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000

(e) Unspent grants and contributions – external restrictions

§Subnote§

Certain grants and contributions are obtained by Council on condition that they be 
spent in a specified manner due to externally imposed restrictions.

Operating grants
Unexpended at the close of the previous reporting period 69 –
Add: operating grants recognised in the current period but not yet spent – 69
Less: operating grants received in a previous reporting period now spent and

recognised as income (69) –
Unexpended and held as externally restricted assets (operating grants) – 69

Capital grants
Unexpended at the close of the previous reporting period 172 –
Less: capital grants received in a previous reporting period now spent and

recognised as income (172) –
Add: capital grants recognised in the current period but not yet spent – 172
Unexpended and held as externally restricted assets (capital grants) – 172

continued on next page ... 
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§Subnote§

AASB 15 AASB 1058
2020 2020

Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000

(f) Disaggregation of material revenue streams

The following shows the revenue recognition pattern for the material revenue streams of 
Council.

Revenue recognition at a point in time
Rates and annual charges – –
Financial assistance grants – –
User charges and fees – 38
Grant revenue and non-developer contributions – 915
Developer contributions – –
Fines – –
Sale of goods – –
Other [specify if material] – 8
 – 961

Revenue recognised over time
Grant revenue – –
Grants to acquire or construct Council controlled assets – –
User charges and fees – –
Other [specify if material] – –

– –
 

Note 4. Interest and investment income
§Note§

2020 2019
Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000

§Subnote§

Interest on financial assets measured at amortised cost
– Cash and investments 2 10
Finance income on the net investment in the lease – –

Total Interest and investment income 2 10

Interest revenue is attributable to:
Unrestricted investments/financial assets:
General Council cash and investments 2 10
Total interest and investment revenue 2 10

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate at the date that interest is earned.
Accounting policy for interest and investment revenue
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§Note/Subtotal§

2020 2019
Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000

(a) Employee benefits and on-costs

§Subnote§

Salaries and wages 451 423
Employee termination costs (where material – other than vested leave paid) 4 –
Travel expenses 2 2
Employee leave entitlements (ELE) 127 73
Superannuation 38 36
Workers’ compensation insurance 12 9
Training costs (other than salaries and wages) 1 1
Protective clothing 3 2
Other 1 1
Total employee costs 639 547

TOTAL EMPLOYEE COSTS EXPENSED 639 547

Number of ‘full-time equivalent’ employees (FTE) at year end 6 6

Employee benefit expenses are recorded when the service has been provided by the employee.
Accounting policy for employee benefits and on-costs

Retirement benefit obligations

All employees of the Council are entitled to benefits on retirement, disability or death. Council contributes to various defined
benefit plans and defined contribution plans on behalf of its employees.

Superannuation plans

Contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense as they become payable. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Council participates in a defined benefit plan under the Local Government Superannuation Scheme, however, sufficient
information to account for the plan as a defined benefit is not available and therefore Council accounts for its obligations to
defined benefit plans on the same basis as its obligations to defined contribution plans, i.e. as an expense when it becomes
payable – refer to Note 14 for more information.
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§Note/Subtotal§

2020 2019
Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000

(b) Materials and contracts

Raw materials and consumables 175 –
Auditors remuneration   1 13 11
Legal expenses:
Expenses from short-term leases (2020 only) – –
Expenses from leases of low value assets (2020 only) – –
Expenses from Peppercorn leases (2020 only) – –
Variable lease expense relating to usage (2020 only) – –
Operating leases expense (2019 only):
Depot expense 43 13
Total materials and contracts 231 24

TOTAL MATERIALS AND CONTRACTS 231 24

1. Auditor remuneration
During the year, the following fees were incurred for services provided by the auditor 
of Council, related practices and non-related audit firms
Auditors of the Council - NSW Auditor-General:

(i) Audit and other assurance services
Audit and review of financial statements 13 11
Remuneration for audit and other assurance services 13 11

Total Auditor-General remuneration 13 11

Total Auditor remuneration 13 11
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§Note/Subtotal§

2020 2019
Actual Actual

Notes $ '000 $ '000

(c) Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of 
non-financial assets

Depreciation and amortisation
Plant and equipment 63 39
Office equipment 9 5
Infrastructure: 10

– Buildings (non-specialised) 14 14
Total gross depreciation and amortisation costs 86 58

Total depreciation and amortisation costs 86 58

TOTAL DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION AND 
IMPAIRMENT FOR NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 86 58

Accounting policy for depreciation, amortisation and impairment expenses of non-financial assets

Depreciation and amortisation are calculated using the straight line method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values,
over their estimated useful lives. Useful lives are included in Note 9 for IPPE assets.

Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation is capitalised where in-house assets have contributed to new assets.

Council assets held at fair value that are not held primarily for their ability to generate net cash flow, and that are deemed to be
specialised, are no longer required to be tested for impairment under AASB 136. This is because these assets are assessed
on an annual basis to ensure that the carrying amount is not materially different from fair value and therefore an impairment
loss would be captured during this assessment.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Other assets that do not meet the criteria above are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Impairment losses for revalued assets are firstly offset against the amount in the revaluation surplus for the class of asset,
with only the excess to be recognised in the Income Statement.
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§Note/Subtotal§

2020 2019
Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000

(d) Other expenses

Advertising 7 16
Computer software charges 20 22
Member expenses – chairperson’s fee 2 2
Member expenses – member’s fees 8 11
Member’s expenses (incl. chairperson) – other (excluding fees above) 1 1
Insurance 52 53
Office expenses (including computer expenses) 9 7
Plant expenses 71 62
Postage 2 –
Printing and stationery 3 6
Subscriptions and publications – 2
Telephone and communications 6 9
Write-down of inventories held for sale or distribution – (2)
regional Meeting Expenses 10 8
Membership 3 –
Total other expenses 194 197
TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES 194 197

Accounting policy for other expenses
Other expenses are recorded on an accruals basis as the Council receives the goods or services.
 

Note 6. Gain or loss from disposal of assets
§Note§

2020 2019
Actual Actual

Notes $ '000 $ '000

§Subnote§

Plant and equipment 10

Proceeds from disposal – plant and equipment 31 29
Net gain/(loss) on disposal 31 29

NET GAIN/(LOSS) ON DISPOSAL OF ASSETS 31 29

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the Income
Statement.

Accounting policy for disposal of assets

The gain or loss on sale of an asset is determined when control of the asset has irrevocably passed to the buyer and the
asset is de-recognised.
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§Note/Subtotal§

2020 2019
Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000

§Subnote§

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand and at bank 841 936
Total cash and cash equivalents 841 936

Accounting policy for cash and cash equivalents
For Statement of Cash Flow presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents include: cash on hand; deposits held at call 
with financial institutions; other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value; and bank 
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the Statement of Financial Position.
 

Note 7(b). Investments
§Note§

2020 2020 2019 2019
Current Non-current Current Non-current
Actual Actual Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

§Subnote§

Investments
‘Financial assets at amortised cost’ / ‘held to maturity’ (2018) 121 – 121 –

Total Investments 121 – 121 –

TOTAL CASH ASSETS, CASH 
EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS 962 – 1,057 –

Financial assets at amortised cost
Long term deposits 121 – 121 –
Total 121 – 121 –
 
§Subnote§

Accounting policy for investments

Financial instruments are recognised initially on the date that the Council becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

On initial recognition, all financial instruments are measured at fair value plus transaction costs (except for instruments
measured at fair value through profit or loss where transaction costs are expensed as incurred).

Financial assets
All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending 
on the classification of the financial assets.

On initial recognition, Council classifies its financial assets into the following categories – those measured at:
Classification

• amortised cost
• fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)
• fair value through other comprehensive income – equity instrument (FVOCI-equity)

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition.

Assets measured at amortised cost are financial assets where:
Amortised cost

• the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows, and

continued on next page ... 
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• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Council’s financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade and other receivables,term deposits and cash and cash
equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position.

Subsequent to initial recognition, these assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less
provision for impairment.

Interest income, impairment and gains or loss on de-recognition are recognised in profit or loss.
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§Note/Subtotal§
§Subnote§

2020 2020 2019 2019
Current Non-current Current Non-current
Actual Actual Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Total cash, cash equivalents and investments 962 – 1,057 –

§Total§

attributable to:
Unrestricted 849 – 696 –
Internal restrictions 113 – 120 –
External restrictions – – 241 –

962 – 1,057 –
 

2020 2019
Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000

Details of restrictions

§Total§

External restrictions – other
Specific purpose unexpended grants (recognised as revenue) – general fund – 241
Internal restrictions
Plant and vehicle replacement 42 9
Employees leave entitlement 71 111
Total internal restrictions 113 120

TOTAL RESTRICTIONS 113 361
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§Note/Subtotal§

2020 2020 2019 2019
Current Non-current Current Non-current
Actual Actual Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

§Subnote§

Purpose
Net investment in finance lease – – – –
Government grants and subsidies 4 – 18 –
Net GST receivable 36 – 9 –
Other debtors 2 – – –
Total 42 – 27 –

TOTAL NET RECEIVABLES 42 – 27 –
 

§Subnote§

Unrestricted receivables 42 – 27 –

TOTAL NET RECEIVABLES 42 – 27 –
 
§Subnote§

Accounting policy for receivables

Receivables are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the reporting date
which are classified as non-current assets.

Recognition and measurement

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less provision for impairment. Receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days.

Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial.
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§Note/Subtotal§

2020 2020 2019 2019
Current Non-current Current Non-current
Actual Actual Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Inventories

§Subnote§

(i) Inventories at cost
Stores and materials 20 – 33 –
Total inventories at cost 20 – 33 –

TOTAL INVENTORIES 20 – 33 –
 
§Subnote§

Accounting policy for inventories and other assets

Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods
Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted average costs. Costs of purchased inventory 
are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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§Note/Subtotal§

as at 30/06/19 Asset movements during the reporting period as at 30/06/20
Gross 

carrying 
amount

Accumulated
depreciation

Net
carrying
amount

Additions 
renewals

Additions 
new assets

Carrying 
value of 

disposals
Depreciation 

expense

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Accumulated
depreciation

Net
carrying
amount

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

§Subnote§

Plant and equipment 381 (234) 147 94 – 7 (63) 329 (159) 170
Office equipment 27 (16) 11 – 25 – (9) 52 (24) 28
Land:
– Operational land 4 – 4 – – – – 4 – 4
Infrastructure:
– Buildings – non-specialised 287 (192) 95 – – – (14) 287 (206) 81
Total Infrastructure, property, plant and 
equipment 699 (442) 257 94 25 7 (86) 672 (389) 283
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§Note/Subtotal§

as at 30/06/18 Asset movements during the reporting 
period as at 30/06/19

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Accumulated
depreciation

Net
carrying
amount

Additions 
renewals   1

Additions 
new assets

Depreciation 
expense

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Accumulated
depreciation

Net
carrying
amount

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Plant and equipment 379 (246) 133 40 10 (39) 381 (234) 147
Office equipment 30 (13) 17 – – (5) 27 (16) 11
Land:
– Operational land 4 – 4 – – – 4 – 4
Infrastructure:
– Buildings – non-specialised 287 (178) 109 – – (14) 287 (192) 95
Total Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 700 (437) 263 40 10 (58) 699 (442) 257

(1) Renewals are defined as the replacement of existing assets (as opposed to the acquisition of new assets).
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Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment are held at fair value. Independent comprehensive valuations are performed at
least every five years, however the carrying amount of assets is assessed by Council at each reporting date to confirm that
it is not materially different from current fair value.

Accounting policy for infrastructure, property, plant and equipment

Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation are credited to the revaluation reserve. To the extent that the increase
reverses a decrease previously recognising profit or loss relating to that asset class, the increase is first recognised as profit
or loss. Decreases that reverse previous increases of assets in the same class are first charged against revaluation reserves
directly in equity to the extent of the remaining reserve attributable to the class; all other decreases are charged to the Income
Statement.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to Council and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the Income Statement during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

When infrastructure, property, plant and equipment are acquired by Council for nil or nominal consideration, the assets are
initially recognised at their fair value at acquisition date.

Land is not depreciated. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the asset’s
useful life or over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the Council
will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Plant and equipment Years Other equipment Years
Office equipment 5 to 10 Playground equipment 5 to 15
Office furniture 10 to 20 Benches, seats etc. 10 to 20
Computer equipment 4
Vehicles 5 to 8 Buildings
Heavy plant/road making equipment 5 to 8 Buildings: masonry 50 to 100
Other plant and equipment 5 to 15 Buildings: other 20 to 40

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
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The Council has applied AASB 16 using the modified retrospective (cumulative catch-up) method and therefore the 
comparative information has not been restated and continues to be reported under AASB 117 and related Interpretations.

(i) Council as a lessee

Council has leases over a range of assets including land and buildings, vehicles, machinery and IT equipment. Information
relating to the leases in place and associated balances and transactions is provided below.

Terms and conditions of leases
Leases are on a short-term basis with the building lease renewable in the 2024/2024 financial year.

Council leases a depot builing in Coonamble. The lease has a five (5) year term.
Buildings

The building lease contains an annual pricing mechanism based on a fixed increases of 3% at each anniversary of the lease
inception.

Council includes options in the building leases to provide flexibility and certainty to Council operations and reduce costs of
moving premises; and the extension options are at Council’s discretion.

Extension options

At commencement date and each subsequent reporting date, Council assesses where it is reasonably certain that the
extension options will be exercised.

 

Plant & 
Equipment Ready to use Total

Actual Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000 $ '000

(a) Right of use assets

§Subnote§

Additions to right-of-use assets – 24 24

RIGHT OF USE ASSETS – 24 24
 

2020 2020
Current Non-current
Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000

(b) Lease liabilities

§Subnote§

Lease liabilities 5 19

TOTAL LEASE LIABILITIES 5 19
 

§Subnote§

(i) The maturity analysis

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash flows is shown in the table below:

< 1 year 1 – 5 years > 5 years Total

Total per 
Statement of 

Financial 
Position

continued on next page ... 
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Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Cash flows 5 19 – 24 24
 

2020 2020
Current Non-current
Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000

(ii) Lease liabilities relating to restricted assets

§Subnote§

Total lease liabilities relating to unrestricted assets 5 19

Total lease liabilities 5 19
 

Council's lease is at market value which id for:

§Subnote§

Leases at significantly below market value – concessionary / peppercorn leases

• Coonamble depot

Accounting policy
Council has implemented AASB16 for Council's property lease from 1st Julu 2019.

At inception of a contract, Council assesses whether a lease exists – i.e. does the contract convey the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration?

Accounting policies under AASB 16 – applicable from 1 July 2019

Council has elected not to separate non-lease components from lease components for any class of asset and has accounted
for payments as a single component.

At the lease commencement, Council recognises a right-of-use asset and associated lease liability for the lease term. The
lease term includes extension periods where Council believes it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised.

The right-of-use asset is measured using the cost model where cost on initial recognition comprises: the lease liability, initial
direct costs, prepaid lease payments, estimated cost of removal and restoration, less any lease incentives. The right-of-use
is depreciated over the lease term on a straight-line basis and assessed for impairment in accordance with the impairment
of asset accounting policy.

The lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the remaining lease payments at the commencement of the
lease. The discount rate is the rate implicit in the lease, however where this cannot be readily determined then the Council’s
incremental borrowing rate for a similar term with similar security is used.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The
lease liability is re-measured when there is a lease modification, or change in estimate of the lease term or index upon which
the lease payments are based (e.g. CPI).

Where the lease liability is re-measured, the right-of-use asset is adjusted to reflect the re-measurement.

Exceptions to lease accounting
Council has applied the exceptions to lease accounting for both short-term leases (i.e. leases with a term of less than or equal
to 12 months) and leases of low-value assets. Council recognises the payments associated with these leases as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Leases at significantly below market value / concessionary leases
Council has elected to measure the right of use asset arising from the concessionary leases at cost which is based on the
associated lease liability at initial recognition.
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2020 2020 2019 2019
Current Non-current Current Non-current
Actual Actual Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

§Subnote§

Payables
Accrued expenses:
– Other expenditure accruals 123 2 29 –
Other 6 – – –
Prepaid rates – – – –
Total payables 129 2 29 –

TOTAL PAYABLES AND 
BORROWINGS 129 2 29 –
 

2020 2020 2019 2019
Current Non-current Current Non-current
Actual Actual Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Payables and borrowings relating to 
restricted assets

§Subnote§

Total payables and borrowings relating 
to unrestricted assets 129 2 29 –

TOTAL PAYABLES AND 
BORROWINGS 129 2 29 –
 

Council measures all financial liabilities initially at fair value less transaction costs, subsequently financial liabilities are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

§Subnote§

Accounting policy for payables and borrowings

The financial liabilities of the Council comprise trade payables, bank and other loans and finance lease liabilities.

Payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the council prior to the end of financial year that are 
unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.
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2020 2020 2019 2019
Current Non-current Current Non-current
Actual Actual Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Provisions

§Subnote§

Employee benefits
Annual leave 65 – 58 –
Long service leave 66 – 75 11
Sub-total – aggregate employee benefits 131 – 133 11

TOTAL PROVISIONS 131 – 133 11
 

(a) Provisions relating to restricted assets
§Subnote§

Total provisions relating to restricted assets – – – –

Total provisions relating to unrestricted assets 131 – 133 11

TOTAL PROVISIONS 131 – 133 11
 

2020 2019
Actual Actual
$ '000 $ '000

(b) Current provisions not anticipated to be settled within the next twelve 
months

§Subnote§

The following provisions, even though classified as current, are not expected to be settled 
in the next 12 months.
Provisions – employees benefits 95 100

95 100
 

(c) Description of and movements in provisions
§Subnote§

ELE provisions

Annual leave
Long service

leave Total

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000

2020
At beginning of year 58 86 144
Additional provisions 7 – 7
Amounts used (payments) – (20) (20)
Total ELE provisions at end of year 65 66 131

2019
At beginning of year 43 73 116
Additional provisions 29 13 42
Amounts used (payments) (18) – (18)
Other 4 – 4
Total ELE provisions at end of year 58 86 144

§Total§

continued on next page ... 
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Provisions are recognised when Council has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount has been reliably estimated.

Accounting policy for provisions

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the reporting date. The discount rate used to determine the present value reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.

Short-term obligations

Employee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries (including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be
wholly settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service) are recognised
in respect of employees' services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled. The liability for annual leave and accumulating sick leave is recognised in the provision for
employee benefits. All other short-term employee benefit obligations are presented as payables.

Other long-term employee benefit obligations

The liability for long-service leave and annual leave that is not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months after the end of
the period in which the employees render the related service is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured
as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the end of
the reporting period using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels,
experience of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at
the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

On-costs

The employee benefit provisions include the aggregate on-cost liabilities that will arise when payment of current employee
benefits is made in future periods.

These amounts include superannuation, payroll tax and workers compensation expenses which will be payable upon the future
payment of certain leave liabilities which employees are entitled to at the reporting period.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position if the Council does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting date, regardless of when the actual settlement
is expected to occur.
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2020 2019
Actual Actual

Notes $ '000 $ '000

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

§Subnote§

Total cash and cash equivalents per Statement of Financial Position 7(a) 841 936
Balance as per the Statement of Cash Flows 841 936
 

(b) Reconciliation of net operating result to cash provided from 
operating activities

§Subnote§

Net operating result from Income Statement (156) 382
Adjust for non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation 86 58
Net losses/(gains) on disposal of assets (31) (29)
+/– Movement in operating assets and liabilities and other cash items:
Decrease/(increase) in receivables (15) 35
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 13 (1)
Increase/(decrease) in other accrued expenses payable 96 5
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 6 –
Increase/(decrease) in employee leave entitlements (13) 28
Net cash provided from/(used in) operating activities    
from the Statement of Cash Flows (14) 478
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The following assets and liabilities do not qualify for recognition in the Statement of Financial Position, but their knowledge 
and disclosure is considered relevant to the users of Council’s financial report.

LIABILITIES NOT RECOGNISED

1. Guarantees

Council is a member of Statewide Mutual, a mutual pool scheme providing liability insurance to local government.

(i) Statewide Limited

Membership includes the potential to share in either the net assets or liabilities of the fund depending on its past performance.
Council’s share of the net assets or liabilities reflects Council’s contributions to the pool and the result of insurance claims
within each of the fund years.

The future realisation and finalisation of claims incurred but not reported to 30/6 this year may result in future liabilities or
benefits as a result of past events that Council will be required to fund or share in respectively.

Council is a member of StateCover Mutual Limited and holds a partly paid share in the entity.

(ii) StateCover Limited

StateCover is a company providing workers compensation insurance cover to the NSW local government industry and
specifically Council.

Council has a contingent liability to contribute further equity in the event of the erosion of the company’s capital base as a
result of the company’s past performance and/or claims experience or as a result of any increased prudential requirements
from APRA.

These future equity contributions would be required to maintain the company’s minimum level of net assets in accordance
with its licence requirements.

Council has provided no other guarantees other than those listed above.

(iii) Other guarantees

2. Other liabilities

The Council is involved from time to time in various claims incidental to the ordinary course of business including claims for
damages relating to its services.

(i) Third party claims

Council believes that it is appropriately covered for all claims through its insurance coverage and does not expect any material
liabilities to eventuate.
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Risk management

Council’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including (1) price risk, (2) credit risk, (3) liquidity risk and (4) interest
rate risk.

The Council’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Council.

Council does not engage in transactions expressed in foreign currencies and is therefore not subject to foreign currency risk.

Financial risk management is carried out under policies approved by the Council.

A comparison by category of the carrying amounts and fair values of Council’s financial assets and financial liabilities
recognised in the financial statements is presented below.

Carrying value Carrying value Fair value Fair value
2020 2019 2020 2019

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Financial assets
Measured at amortised cost
Cash and cash equivalents 841 936 841 936
Receivables 42 27 42 27
Investments
– ‘Financial assets at amortised cost’ 121 121 121 121
Total financial assets 1,004 1,084 1,004 1,084

Financial liabilities
Payables 131 29 131 29
Lease liabilities 24 – – –
Total financial liabilities 155 29 131 29

Fair value is determined as follows:

• Cash and cash equivalents, receivables, payables – are estimated to be the carrying value that approximates market
value.

• Borrowings and held-to-maturity investments – are based upon estimated future cash flows discounted by the current
mkt interest rates applicable to assets and liabilities with similar risk profiles, unless quoted market prices are available.

• Financial assets classified (i) ‘at fair value through profit and loss’ or (ii) ‘available-for-sale’ – are based upon quoted
market prices (in active markets for identical investments) at the reporting date or independent valuation.

Council’s objective is to maximise its return on cash and investments whilst maintaining an adequate level of liquidity and
preserving capital.

Council's General Manager manages the cash and Investments portfolio with the assistance of independent advisors.

Council has an investment policy which complies with the Local Government Act 1993 and Minister’s investment order 625.
This policy is regularly reviewed by Council and it’s staff and an investment report is tabled before Council on a monthly basis
setting out the portfolio breakup and its performance as required by Local Government regulations.

The risks associated with the instruments held are:

• Price risk – the risk that the capital value of Investments may fluctuate due to changes in market prices, whether
there changes are caused by factors specific to individual financial instruments or their issuers or are caused by factors
affecting similar instruments traded in a market.

• Interest rate risk – the risk that movements in interest rates could affect returns and income.
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• Liquidity risk – the risk that Council will not be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

• Credit risk – the risk that the investment counterparty will not complete their obligations particular to a financial
instrument, resulting in a financial loss to Council – be it of a capital or income nature.

Council manages these risks (amongst other measures) by diversifying its portfolio and only purchasing investments with high
credit ratings or capital guarantees.

Council also seeks advice from independent advisers before placing any funds in cash equivalents and investments.
 

(a) Market risk – price risk and interest rate risk
§Subnote§

The impact on result for the year and equity of a reasonably possible movement in the price of investments held and interest
rates is shown below. The reasonably possible movements were determined based on historical movements and economic 
conditions in place at the reporting date.

Increase of values/rates Decrease of values/rates
Profit Equity Profit Equity
$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

2020
Possible impact of a 1% movement in interest rates 8 8 (8) (8)

2019
Possible impact of a 1% movement in interest rates 9 9 (9) (9)
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(b) Liquidity risk

Payables, lease liabilities and borrowings are both subject to liquidity risk – the risk that insufficient funds may be on hand to
meet payment obligations as and when they fall due.

Council manages this risk by monitoring its cash flow requirements and liquidity levels and maintaining an adequate cash buffer.

Payment terms can (in extenuating circumstances) also be extended and overdraft facilities utilised as required.

Borrowings are also subject to interest rate risk – the risk that movements in interest rates could adversely affect funding
costs and debt servicing requirements. Council manages this risk through diversification of borrowing types, maturities and
interest rate structures. The finance team regularly reviews interest rate movements to determine if it would be advantageous
to refinance or renegotiate part or all of the loan portfolio.

The timing of cash flows presented in the table below to settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement
dates. The timing of expected outflows is not expected to be materially different from contracted cashflows.

The amounts disclosed in the table are the undiscounted contracted cash flows for non-lease liabilities and therefore the
balances in the table may not equal the balances in the Statement of Financial Position due to the effect of discounting.

payable in:
Weighted

average
interest 

rate

Subject
to no

maturity ≤ 1 Year 1 - 5 
Years > 5 Years Total cash

outflows

Actual 
carrying 

values
% $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

2020
Trade/other payables 0.00% – 131 2 – 133 131
Total financial liabilities – 131 2 – 133 131

2019
Trade/other payables 0.00% – 29 – – 29 29
Total financial liabilities – 29 – – 29 29
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Council’s original financial budget for 19/20 was adopted by the Council on 24th June 2019 and is unaudited.

§Subnote§

While the Income Statement included in this General Purpose Financial Statements must disclose the original budget adopted
by Council, the Local Government Act 1993 requires Council to review its financial budget on a quarterly basis, so that it is
able to manage the various variations between actuals versus budget that invariably occur throughout the year.

This note sets out the details of material variations between Council’s original budget and its actual results for the year as
per the Income Statement – even though such variations may have been adjusted for during each quarterly budget review.

Material variations represent those variances between the original budget figure and the actual result that amount to 10%
or more.

Variation Key: F = Favourable budget variation, U = Unfavourable budget variation.

 2020 2020 2020
$ '000 Budget Actual -------- Variance --------

REVENUES

User charges and fees 4 38 34 850% F
Actual private works income greater than original budget predictions.

Other revenues 15 8 (7) (47)% U
The budget made allowance for income streams that were not realised.

Operating grants and contributions 1,104 915 (189) (17)% U
The budget made provision for additional operating grants that were not realised during the year.

Interest and investment revenue 3 2 (1) (33)% U
Actual Investment income was less than anticipated due to lower interest rates. 

Net gains from disposal of assets 1 31 30 3,000% F
No profit on sale for motor vehicles allowed for in the original budget.

EXPENSES

Employee benefits and on-costs 718 639 79 11% F
Additional expediture associated with a grant was not incurred as the grant did not take place.

Materials and contracts 307 231 76 25% F
Additional costs associated with grant expenditure were originally budgeted, this did not take place.

Depreciation and amortisation 60 86 (26) (43)% U
Increased motor vehicle depreciation a result of new plant items purchased in previous year.

Other expenses 205 194 11 5% F
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 2020 2020 2020
$ '000 Budget Actual -------- Variance --------

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities (104) (14) 90 (87)% F

§Total§

Operating expenditure less than previously estimated in original budget

Cash flows from investing activities (53) (81) (28) 53% U
Purchase of additional motor vehicle.
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The Council measures the following asset and liability classes at fair value on a recurring basis:

– Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment

The fair value of assets and liabilities must be estimated in accordance with various accounting standards for either recognition
and measurement requirements or for disclosure purposes.

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement requires all assets and liabilities measured at fair value to be assigned to a ‘level’ in the
fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

§Subnote§

(1) The following table presents all assets and liabilities that have beenmeasured and recognised at fair values:
 

Fair value measurement hierarchy

2020

Date of 
latest 

valuation

Level 1
Quoted

prices in
active mkts

Level 2
Significant
observable

inputs

Level 3 
Significant 
unobserv-

able inputs Total

Recurring fair value measurements

§Subnote§

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Plant and Office Equipment – – 198 198
Operational Land – – 4 4
Buildings (non specialised) – – 81 81
Total infrastructure, property, plant and 
equipment – – 283 283

Fair value measurement hierarchy

2019

Date of 
latest 

valuation

Level 1
Quoted

prices in
active mkts

Level 2
Significant
observable

inputs

Level 3 
Significant 
unobserv-

able inputs Total

Recurring fair value measurements

§Total§

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Plant and Office Equipment 30/06/17 – – 158 158
Operational Land 30/06/17 – – 4 4
Buildings (non specialised) 30/06/17 – – 95 95
Total infrastructure, property, plant and 
equipment – – 257 257
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(a) Key management personnel

Key management personnel (KMP) of the council are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the council, directly or 
indirectly.

The aggregate amount of KMP compensation included in the Income Statement is:

2020 2019
$ '000 $ '000

Compensation:
Short-term benefits 49 27

Total 49 27
 

(b) Other transactions with KMP and their related parties
§Subnote§

Council has determined that there were no other KMP or related party transactions.
 

Note 20. Events occurring after the reporting date
§Note§

Council is unaware of any material or significant ‘non-adjusting events’ that should be disclosed.

§Subnote§
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 Amounts Indicator Prior periods Benchmark
$ '000 2020 2020 2019 2018 2017  

1. Operating performance ratio
Total continuing operating revenue 
excluding capital grants and 
contributions less operating 
expenses   1, 2 (187)
Total continuing operating revenue 
excluding capital grants and 
contributions   1

963
(19.42)% 29.94% 27.24% 9.13%  >0.00%

2. Own source operating revenue ratio
Total continuing operating revenue 
excluding all grants and 
contributions   1 48
Total continuing operating revenue   
1 963

4.98% 6.11% 16.10% 16.47%  >60.00%

3. Unrestricted current ratio
Current assets less all external 
restrictions 1,024
Current liabilities less specific 
purpose liabilities

170 6.02x 14.13x 7.73x 3.59x  >1.50x

4. Debt service cover ratio
Operating result before capital 
excluding interest and 
depreciation/impairment/amortisatio
n   1 (101)
Principal repayments (Statement of
Cash Flows) plus borrowing costs 
(Income Statement)

–
∞ ∞ ∞ 2.28x  >2.00x

5. Cash expense cover ratio
Current year’s cash and cash 
equivalents plus all term deposits 962
Monthly payments from cash flow 
of operating and financing activities

80
12.00
mths

14.82
mths

9.13
mths

5.59
mths  >3.00

mths

§Subnote§

(1) Excludes fair value increments on investment properties, reversal of revaluation decrements, reversal of impairment losses on 
receivables, net gain on sale of assets and net share of interests in joint ventures and associates using the equity method and includes 
pensioner rate subsidies

(2) Excludes impairment/revaluation decrements of IPPE, fair value decrements on investment properties, net loss on disposal of assets 
and net loss on share of interests in joint ventures and associates using the equity method

Castlereagh Macquarie County Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 21(a). Statement of performance measures – consolidated results
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§Note/Subtotal§

1. Operating performance ratio

Purpose of operating 
performance ratio

This ratio measures Council’s 
achievement of containing 

operating expenditure within 
operating revenue.

Commentary on 2019/20 result

2019/20 ratio      (19.42)%

Benchmark: ― > 0.00%  Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting #28  Ratio is outside benchmark

§Subnote§

2. Own source operating revenue ratio

Purpose of own source 
operating revenue ratio

This ratio measures fiscal 
flexibility. It is the degree of 
reliance on external funding 

sources such as operating grants 
and contributions.

Commentary on 2019/20 result

2019/20 ratio      4.98%

Benchmark: ― > 60.00%  Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting #28  Ratio is outside benchmark

3. Unrestricted current ratio

Purpose of unrestricted
current ratio

To assess the adequacy of 
working capital and its ability to 
satisfy obligations in the short 

term for the unrestricted activities 
of Council.

Commentary on 2019/20 result

2019/20 ratio      6.02x

Benchmark: ― > 1.50x  Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting #28  Ratio is outside benchmark

continued on next page ... 

Castlereagh Macquarie County Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Note 21(b). Statement of performance measures – consolidated results (graphs)
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4. Debt service cover ratio

Purpose of debt service
cover ratio

This ratio measures the 
availability of operating cash to 
service debt including interest, 
principal and lease payments

Commentary on 2019/20 result

2019/20 ratio      ∞

Benchmark: ― > 2.00x  Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting #28  Ratio is outside benchmark

5. Rates, annual charges, interest and extra charges outstanding percentage
Purpose of rates, 
annual charges, 

interest and extra 
charges outstanding 

To assess the impact of 
uncollected rates and annual 

charges on Council’s liquidity and 
the adequacy of recovery efforts.

Commentary on 2019/20 result

2019/20 ratio      ∞

Benchmark: ― < 10.00%  Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting #28  Ratio is outside benchmark

5. Cash expense cover ratio

Purpose of cash 
expense cover ratio

This liquidity ratio indicates the 
number of months a Council can 
continue paying for its immediate 
expenses without additional cash 

inflow.

Commentary on 2019/20 result

2019/20 ratio      12.00 mths

Benchmark: ― > 3.00mths  Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting #28 Ratio is outside benchmark

Castlereagh Macquarie County Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 21(b). Statement of performance measures – consolidated results (graphs)
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§Note/Subtotal§

(a) Review and commentary on Council’s financial result
§Subnote§

Review and commentary on Council’s financial result
Review and commentary on Council’s financial position
Review and commentary on Council’s cash flows
 

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

(b) Key financial figures of Council over 
the past 5 years

§Subnote§

Inflows:
User charges revenue 38 52 61 – –
Interest and investment revenue (losses) 2 10 7 – –
Grants income – operating and capital 367 581 346 – –
Total income from continuing operations 994 1,208 1,061 – –

Sale proceeds from I,PP&E 31 29 11 – –

Outflows:
Employee benefits and on-cost expenses 639 547 548 – –
Materials and contracts expenses 231 24 17 – –
Total expenses from continuing operations 1,150 826 764 – –

Total cash purchases of I,PP&E 112 52 66 – –

Operating surplus/(deficit) (excl. capital income) (156) 382 297 – –

Financial position figures

Current assets 1,048 1,117 696 – –
Current liabilities 265 162 140 – –
Net current assets 783 955 556 – –

Available working capital (Unrestricted net current 
assets) 801 727 515 – –

Cash and investments – unrestricted 849 696 445 – –
Cash and investments – internal restrictions 113 120 157 – –
Cash and investments – total 962 1,057 602 – –

Total value of I,PP&E (excl. land and earthworks) 668 695 696 – –
Total accumulated depreciation 389 442 437 – –
Indicative remaining useful life (as a % of GBV) 42% 36% 37% 33% 100%

Castlereagh Macquarie County Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 22. Financial review
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§Note/Subtotal§
§Subnote§

Castlereagh Macquarie County Council

General Purpose Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020
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§Note/Subtotal§
§Subnote§

Castlereagh Macquarie County Council

General Purpose Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Page 51 of 51

Financial Statements 2020Castlereagh Macquarie County Council

General Purpose Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

59



Model  
Code of  
Conduct  
for Local Councils  
in NSW
2020

60



Model Code of Conduct for Local Councils in NSW

ALTERNATIVE MEDIA PUBLICATIONS 
Special arrangements can be made for our publications to be provided in large print or an alternative 
media format. If you need this service, please contact us on 02 4428 4100.

DISCLAIMER 
While every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information in this publication, the 
Office of Local Government expressly disclaims any liability to any person in respect of anything 
done or not done as a result of the contents of the publication or the data provided.

© Department of Planning, Industry and Environment 2020 
Produced by the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment

MODEL CODE OF CONDUCT FOR LOCAL COUNCILS IN NSW 
2020

ACCESS TO SERVICES 
The Office of Local Government is located at: 
Street Address: Levels 1 & 2, 5 O’Keefe Avenue, NOWRA NSW 2541 
Postal Address: Locked Bag 3015, Nowra, NSW 2541 
Phone:	 02 4428 4100 
Fax:	 02 4428 4199 
TTY:	 02 4428 4209 
Email: 	 olg@olg.nsw.gov.au 
Website: 	www.olg.nsw.gov.au

OFFICE HOURS 
Monday to Friday 
9.00am to 5.00pm 
(Special arrangements may be made if  
these hours are unsuitable) 
All offices are wheelchair accessible.
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Introduction

This Model Code of Conduct for Local Councils 
in NSW (“the Model Code of Conduct”) is made 
under section 440 of the Local Government 
Act 1993 (“LGA”) and the Local Government 
(General) Regulation 2005 (“the Regulation”). 

The Model Code of Conduct sets the minimum 
standards of conduct for council officials. It 
is prescribed by regulation to assist council 
officials to:

	• understand and comply with the standards 
of conduct that are expected of them

	• enable them to fulfil their statutory duty 
to act honestly and exercise a reasonable 
degree of care and diligence (section 439)

	• act in a way that enhances public confidence 
in local government.

Section 440 of the LGA requires every 
council (including county councils) and joint 
organisation to adopt a code of conduct that 
incorporates the provisions of the Model Code 
of Conduct. A council’s or joint organisation’s 
adopted code of conduct may also include 
provisions that supplement the Model Code 
of Conduct and that extend its application to 
persons that are not “council officials” for the 
purposes of the Model Code of Conduct (eg 
volunteers, contractors and members of wholly 
advisory committees). 

A council’s or joint organisation’s adopted code 
of conduct has no effect to the extent that it is 
inconsistent with the Model Code of Conduct. 
However, a council’s or joint organisation’s 
adopted code of conduct may prescribe 
requirements that are more onerous than those 
prescribed in the Model Code of Conduct.

Councillors, administrators, members of staff 
of councils, delegates of councils, (including 
members of council committees that are 
delegates of a council) and any other person 
a council’s adopted code of conduct applies 
to, must comply with the applicable provisions 
of their council’s code of conduct. It is the 
personal responsibility of council officials to 
comply with the standards in the code and to 
regularly review their personal circumstances 
and conduct with this in mind.

Failure by a councillor to comply with the 
standards of conduct prescribed under this 
code constitutes misconduct for the purposes 
of the LGA. The LGA provides for a range of 
penalties that may be imposed on councillors 
for misconduct, including suspension or 
disqualification from civic office. A councillor 
who has been suspended on three or more 
occasions for misconduct is automatically 
disqualified from holding civic office for 
five years.

Failure by a member of staff to comply with 
a council’s code of conduct may give rise to 
disciplinary action.

Note: References in the Model Code of Conduct 
to councils are also to be taken as references to 
county councils and joint organisations. 

Note: In adopting the Model Code of Conduct, 
joint organisations should adapt it to substitute 
the terms “board” for “council”, “chairperson” 
for “mayor”, “voting representative” for 
“councillor” and “executive officer” for 
“general manager”.

Note: In adopting the Model Code of Conduct, 
county councils should adapt it to substitute 
the term “chairperson” for “mayor” and 
“member” for “councillor”.
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Definitions

In this code the following terms have the following meanings:

administrator	 an administrator of a council appointed under the LGA other than an 
administrator appointed under section 66 

committee	 see the definition of “council committee”

complaint	 a code of conduct complaint made for the purposes of clauses 4.1 
and 4.2 of the Procedures. 

conduct	 includes acts and omissions

council	 includes county councils and joint organisations

council committee	 a committee established by a council comprising of councillors, staff 
or other persons that the council has delegated functions to and the 
council’s audit, risk and improvement committee

council committee member	 a person other than a councillor or member of staff of a council who 
is a member of a council committee other than a wholly advisory 
committee, and a person other than a councillor who is a member of 
the council’s audit, risk and improvement committee

council official	 includes councillors, members of staff of a council, administrators, 
council committee members, delegates of council and, for the 
purposes of clause 4.16, council advisers

councillor	 any person elected or appointed to civic office, including the mayor 
and includes members and chairpersons of county councils and 
voting representatives of the boards of joint organisations and 
chairpersons of joint organisations

delegate of council	 a person (other than a councillor or member of staff of a council) or 
body, and the individual members of that body, to whom a function 
of the council is delegated 

designated person	 a person referred to in clause 4.8 

election campaign	 includes council, state and federal election campaigns

environmental planning 	 has the same meaning as it has in the Environmental Planning and
instrument	 Assessment Act 1979

general manager	 includes the executive officer of a joint organisation

joint organisation	 a joint organisation established under section 400O of the LGA

LGA	 Local Government Act 1993

local planning panel	 a local planning panel constituted under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979

mayor	 includes the chairperson of a county council or a joint organisation
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members of staff	 includes members of staff of county councils and joint organisations
of a council

the Office	 Office of Local Government

personal information	 information or an opinion (including information or an opinion 
forming part of a database and whether or not recorded in a 
material form) about an individual whose identity is apparent or can 
reasonably be ascertained from the information or opinion

the Procedures	 the Procedures for the Administration of the Model Code of Conduct 
for Local Councils in NSW prescribed under the Regulation

the Regulation	 the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005

voting representative	 a voting representative of the board of a joint organisation

wholly advisory	 a council committee that the council has not delegated any
committee	 functions to
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General Conduct Obligations

General conduct
3.1	 You must not conduct yourself in a 

manner that:

a)	 is likely to bring the council or other 
council officials into disrepute 

b)	 is contrary to statutory requirements 
or the council’s administrative 
requirements or policies

c)	 is improper or unethical

d)	 is an abuse of power 

e)	 causes, comprises or involves 
intimidation or verbal abuse

f)	 involves the misuse of your position to 
obtain a private benefit

g)	 constitutes harassment or bullying 
behaviour under this code, or is 
unlawfully discriminatory.

3.2	 You must act lawfully and honestly, 
and exercise a reasonable degree of 
care and diligence in carrying out your 
functions under the LGA or any other Act. 
(section 439).

Fairness and equity
3.3	 You must consider issues consistently, 

promptly and fairly. You must deal with 
matters in accordance with established 
procedures, in a non-discriminatory 
manner.

3.4	 You must take all relevant facts known 
to you, or that you should be reasonably 
aware of, into consideration and have 
regard to the particular merits of each 
case. You must not take irrelevant matters 
or circumstances into consideration when 
making decisions.

3.5	 An act or omission in good faith, whether 
or not it involves error, will not constitute 
a breach of clauses 3.3 or 3.4.

Harassment and 
discrimination
3.6	 You must not harass or unlawfully 

discriminate against others, or support 
others who harass or unlawfully 
discriminate against others, on the 
grounds of age, disability, race (including 
colour, national or ethnic origin or 
immigrant status), sex, pregnancy, 
marital or relationship status, family 
responsibilities or breastfeeding, sexual 
orientation, gender identity or intersex 
status or political, religious or other 
affiliation. 

3.7	 For the purposes of this code, 
“harassment” is any form of behaviour 
towards a person that:

a)	 is not wanted by the person 

b)	 offends, humiliates or intimidates the 
person, and

c)	 creates a hostile environment.

Bullying
3.8	 You must not engage in bullying 

behaviour towards others.

3.9	 For the purposes of this code, “bullying 
behaviour” is any behaviour in which:

a)	 a person or a group of people 
repeatedly behaves unreasonably 
towards another person or a group of 
persons, and

b)	 the behaviour creates a risk to health 
and safety.

3.10	 Bullying behaviour may involve, but is not 
limited to, any of the following types of 
behaviour:

a)	 aggressive, threatening or intimidating 
conduct

b)	 belittling or humiliating comments
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c)	 spreading malicious rumours

d)	 teasing, practical jokes or ‘initiation 
ceremonies’

e)	 exclusion from work-related events

f)	 unreasonable work expectations, 
including too much or too little work, 
or work below or beyond a worker’s 
skill level

g)	 displaying offensive material

h)	 pressure to behave in an inappropriate 
manner.

3.11	 Reasonable management action carried 
out in a reasonable manner does not 
constitute bullying behaviour for the 
purposes of this code. Examples of 
reasonable management action may 
include, but are not limited to:

a)	 performance management processes

b)	 disciplinary action for misconduct

c)	 informing a worker about 
unsatisfactory work performance or 
inappropriate work behaviour

d)	 directing a worker to perform duties in 
keeping with their job

e)	 maintaining reasonable workplace 
goals and standards

f)	 legitimately exercising a regulatory 
function

g)	 legitimately implementing a council 
policy or administrative processes.

Work health and safety
3.12	 All council officials, including councillors, 

owe statutory duties under the Work 
Health and Safety Act 2011 (WHS Act). 
You must comply with your duties under 
the WHS Act and your responsibilities 
under any policies or procedures adopted 
by the council to ensure workplace health 
and safety. Specifically, you must:

a)	 take reasonable care for your own 
health and safety

b)	 take reasonable care that your acts or 
omissions do not adversely affect the 
health and safety of other persons

c)	 comply, so far as you are reasonably 
able, with any reasonable instruction 
that is given to ensure compliance 
with the WHS Act and any policies or 
procedures adopted by the council to 
ensure workplace health and safety

d)	 cooperate with any reasonable policy 
or procedure of the council relating 
to workplace health or safety that has 
been notified to council staff

e)	 report accidents, incidents, near 
misses, to the general manager or 
such other staff member nominated by 
the general manager, and take part in 
any incident investigations

f)	 so far as is reasonably practicable, 
consult, co-operate and coordinate 
with all others who have a duty under 
the WHS Act in relation to the same 
matter.

Land use planning, 
development 
assessment and other 
regulatory functions
3.13	 You must ensure that land use planning, 

development assessment and other 
regulatory decisions are properly made, 
and that all parties are dealt with fairly. 
You must avoid any occasion for suspicion 
of improper conduct in the exercise 
of land use planning, development 
assessment and other regulatory 
functions. 
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3.14	 In exercising land use planning, 
development assessment and other 
regulatory functions, you must ensure that 
no action, statement or communication 
between yourself and others conveys any 
suggestion of willingness to improperly 
provide concessions or preferential or 
unduly unfavourable treatment.

Binding caucus votes
3.15	 You must not participate in binding 

caucus votes in relation to matters to be 
considered at a council or committee 
meeting.

3.16	 For the purposes of clause 3.15, a binding 
caucus vote is a process whereby a group 
of councillors are compelled by a threat 
of disciplinary or other adverse action to 
comply with a predetermined position on 
a matter before the council or committee, 
irrespective of the personal views of 
individual members of the group on the 
merits of the matter before the council or 
committee. 

3.17	 Clause 3.15 does not prohibit councillors 
from discussing a matter before the 
council or committee prior to considering 
the matter in question at a council or 
committee meeting, or from voluntarily 
holding a shared view with other 
councillors on the merits of a matter. 

3.18	 Clause 3.15 does not apply to a decision 
to elect the mayor or deputy mayor, or to 
nominate a person to be a member of a 
council committee or a representative of 
the council on an external body.

Obligations in relation 
to meetings
3.19	 You must comply with rulings by the chair 

at council and committee meetings or 
other proceedings of the council unless 
a motion dissenting from the ruling is 
passed.

3.20	 You must not engage in bullying 
behaviour (as defined under this Part) 
towards the chair, other council officials or 
any members of the public present during 
council or committee meetings or other 
proceedings of the council (such as, but 
not limited to, workshops and briefing 
sessions). 

3.21	 You must not engage in conduct that 
disrupts council or committee meetings or 
other proceedings of the council (such as, 
but not limited to, workshops and briefing 
sessions), or that would otherwise be 
inconsistent with the orderly conduct of 
meetings.

3.22	 If you are a councillor, you must not 
engage in any acts of disorder or other 
conduct that is intended to prevent the 
proper or effective functioning of the 
council, or of a committee of the council. 
Without limiting this clause, you must not:

a)	 leave a meeting of the council or 
a committee for the purposes of 
depriving the meeting of a quorum, or

b)	 submit a rescission motion with 
respect to a decision for the purposes 
of voting against it to prevent another 
councillor from submitting a rescission 
motion with respect to the same 
decision, or

c)	 deliberately seek to impede the 
consideration of business at a meeting.
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Pecuniary Interests

What is a pecuniary 
interest?
4.1	 A pecuniary interest is an interest that you 

have in a matter because of a reasonable 
likelihood or expectation of appreciable 
financial gain or loss to you or a person 
referred to in clause 4.3.

4.2	 You will not have a pecuniary interest in 
a matter if the interest is so remote or 
insignificant that it could not reasonably 
be regarded as likely to influence any 
decision you might make in relation to 
the matter, or if the interest is of a kind 
specified in clause 4.6.

4.3	 For the purposes of this Part, you will 
have a pecuniary interest in a matter if the 
pecuniary interest is:

(a)	 your interest, or

(b)	the interest of your spouse or de facto 
partner, your relative, or your partner 
or employer, or

(c)	 a company or other body of which 
you, or your nominee, partner or 
employer, is a shareholder or member.

4.4	 For the purposes of clause 4.3:

(a)	 Your “relative” is any of the following:

i)	 your parent, grandparent, brother, 
sister, uncle, aunt, nephew, niece, 
lineal descendant or adopted child 

ii)	 your spouse’s or de facto partner’s 
parent, grandparent, brother, sister, 
uncle, aunt, nephew, niece, lineal 
descendant or adopted child

iii)	 the spouse or de facto partner of 
a person referred to in paragraphs 
(i) and (ii).

(b)	“de facto partner” has the same 
meaning as defined in section 21C of 
the Interpretation Act 1987.

4.5	 You will not have a pecuniary interest 
in relation to a person referred to in 
subclauses 4.3(b) or (c):

(a)	 if you are unaware of the relevant 
pecuniary interest of your spouse, 
de facto partner, relative, partner, 
employer or company or other body, 
or

(b)	just because the person is a member 
of, or is employed by, a council or a 
statutory body, or is employed by the 
Crown, or

(c)	 just because the person is a member 
of, or a delegate of a council to, a 
company or other body that has a 
pecuniary interest in the matter, so 
long as the person has no beneficial 
interest in any shares of the company 
or body.

What interests do not 
have to be disclosed?
4.6	 You do not have to disclose the following 

interests for the purposes of this Part:

(a)	 your interest as an elector

(b)	your interest as a ratepayer or person 
liable to pay a charge

(c)	 an interest you have in any matter 
relating to the terms on which the 
provision of a service or the supply of 
goods or commodities is offered to 
the public generally, or to a section of 
the public that includes persons who 
are not subject to this code

(d)	an interest you have in any matter 
relating to the terms on which the 
provision of a service or the supply 
of goods or commodities is offered 
to your relative by the council in the 
same manner and subject to the same 
conditions as apply to persons who 
are not subject to this code
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(e)	 an interest you have as a member 
of a club or other organisation or 
association, unless the interest is as 
the holder of an office in the club or 
organisation (whether remunerated or 
not)

(f)	 if you are a council committee 
member, an interest you have as 
a person chosen to represent the 
community, or as a member of a non-
profit organisation or other community 
or special interest group, if you have 
been appointed to represent the 
organisation or group on the council 
committee

(g)	an interest you have relating to a 
contract, proposed contract or other 
matter, if the interest arises only 
because of a beneficial interest in 
shares in a company that does not 
exceed 10 per cent of the voting rights 
in the company

(h)	an interest you have arising from the 
proposed making by the council of 
an agreement between the council 
and a corporation, association or 
partnership, being a corporation, 
association or partnership that has 
more than 25 members, if the interest 
arises because your relative is a 
shareholder (but not a director) of 
the corporation, or is a member (but 
not a member of the committee) of 
the association, or is a partner of the 
partnership

(i)	 an interest you have arising from the 
making by the council of a contract 
or agreement with your relative for, 
or in relation to, any of the following, 
but only if the proposed contract 
or agreement is similar in terms and 
conditions to such contracts and 
agreements as have been made, or 
as are proposed to be made, by the 
council in respect of similar matters 
with other residents of the area:

i)	 the performance by the council at 
the expense of your relative of any 
work or service in connection with 
roads or sanitation

ii)	 security for damage to footpaths 
or roads

iii)	 any other service to be rendered, 
or act to be done, by the council 
by or under any Act conferring 
functions on the council, or by or 
under any contract

(j)	 an interest relating to the payment 
of fees to councillors (including the 
mayor and deputy mayor)

(k)	an interest relating to the payment of 
expenses and the provision of facilities 
to councillors (including the mayor 
and deputy mayor) in accordance with 
a policy under section 252 of the LGA,

(l)	 an interest relating to an election 
to the office of mayor arising from 
the fact that a fee for the following 
12 months has been determined for the 
office of mayor

(m)	an interest of a person arising from 
the passing for payment of a regular 
account for the wages or salary of 
an employee who is a relative of the 
person

(n)	an interest arising from being covered 
by, or a proposal to be covered by, 
indemnity insurance as a councillor or 
a council committee member

(o)	an interest arising from the 
appointment of a councillor to a body 
as a representative or delegate of 
the council, whether or not a fee or 
other recompense is payable to the 
representative or delegate.

4.7	 For the purposes of clause 4.6, “relative” 
has the same meaning as in clause 4.4, 
but includes your spouse or de facto 
partner.
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What disclosures 
must be made by a 
designated person?
4.8	 Designated persons include:

(a)	 the general manager

(b)	other senior staff of the council for the 
purposes of section 332 of the LGA

(c)	 a person (other than a member of the 
senior staff of the council) who is a 
member of staff of the council or a 
delegate of the council and who holds 
a position identified by the council as 
the position of a designated person 
because it involves the exercise of 
functions (such as regulatory functions 
or contractual functions) that, in their 
exercise, could give rise to a conflict 
between the person’s duty as a 
member of staff or delegate and the 
person’s private interest

(d)	a person (other than a member of 
the senior staff of the council) who 
is a member of a committee of the 
council identified by the council as 
a committee whose members are 
designated persons because the 
functions of the committee involve 
the exercise of the council’s functions 
(such as regulatory functions or 
contractual functions) that, in their 
exercise, could give rise to a conflict 
between the member’s duty as a 
member of the committee and the 
member’s private interest.

4.9	 A designated person:

(a)	 must prepare and submit written 
returns of interests in accordance with 
clauses 4.21, and

(b)	must disclose pecuniary interests in 
accordance with clause 4.10.

4.10	 A designated person must disclose in 
writing to the general manager (or if 
the person is the general manager, to 
the council) the nature of any pecuniary 
interest the person has in any council 
matter with which the person is dealing as 
soon as practicable after becoming aware 
of the interest.

4.11	 Clause 4.10 does not require a designated 
person who is a member of staff of the 
council to disclose a pecuniary interest if 
the interest relates only to the person’s 
salary as a member of staff, or to their 
other conditions of employment.

4.12	 The general manager must, on receiving a 
disclosure from a designated person, deal 
with the matter to which the disclosure 
relates or refer it to another person to 
deal with.

4.13	 A disclosure by the general manager 
must, as soon as practicable after the 
disclosure is made, be laid on the table at 
a meeting of the council and the council 
must deal with the matter to which the 
disclosure relates or refer it to another 
person to deal with.

What disclosures must 
be made by council staff 
other than designated 
persons? 
4.14	 A member of staff of council, other than 

a designated person, must disclose in 
writing to their manager or the general 
manager the nature of any pecuniary 
interest they have in a matter they are 
dealing with as soon as practicable after 
becoming aware of the interest.

4.15	 The staff member’s manager or the 
general manager must, on receiving a 
disclosure under clause 4.14, deal with the 
matter to which the disclosure relates or 
refer it to another person to deal with.
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What disclosures must 
be made by council 
advisers?
4.16	 A person who, at the request or with 

the consent of the council or a council 
committee, gives advice on any matter at 
any meeting of the council or committee, 
must disclose the nature of any pecuniary 
interest the person has in the matter 
to the meeting at the time the advice 
is given. The person is not required 
to disclose the person’s interest as an 
adviser.

4.17	 A person does not breach clause 4.16 if 
the person did not know, and could not 
reasonably be expected to have known, 
that the matter under consideration at the 
meeting was a matter in which they had a 
pecuniary interest.

What disclosures must 
be made by a council 
committee member?
4.18	 A council committee member must 

disclose pecuniary interests in accordance 
with clause 4.28 and comply with clause 
4.29.

4.19	 For the purposes of clause 4.18, a “council 
committee member” includes a member 
of staff of council who is a member of the 
committee.

What disclosures 
must be made by a 
councillor?
4.20	A councillor:

(a)	 must prepare and submit written 
returns of interests in accordance with 
clause 4.21, and

(b)	must disclose pecuniary interests 
in accordance with clause 4.28 and 
comply with clause 4.29 where it is 
applicable.

Disclosure of interests in 
written returns
4.21	 A councillor or designated person must 

make and lodge with the general manager 
a return in the form set out in schedule 2 
to this code, disclosing the councillor’s or 
designated person’s interests as specified 
in schedule 1 to this code within 3 months 
after:

(a)	 becoming a councillor or designated 
person, and

(b)	30 June of each year, and 

(c)	 the councillor or designated person 
becoming aware of an interest they are 
required to disclose under schedule 1 
that has not been previously disclosed 
in a return lodged under paragraphs 
(a) or (b).

4.22	 A person need not make and lodge a 
return under clause 4.21, paragraphs (a) 
and (b) if:

(a)	 they made and lodged a return under 
that clause in the preceding 3 months, 
or 

(b)	they have ceased to be a councillor or 
designated person in the preceding 3 
months.
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4.23	 A person must not make and lodge a 
return that the person knows or ought 
reasonably to know is false or misleading 
in a material particular.

4.24	 The general manager must keep a register 
of returns required to be made and 
lodged with the general manager.

4.25	 Returns required to be lodged with the 
general manager under clause 4.21(a) and 
(b) must be tabled at the first meeting of 
the council after the last day the return is 
required to be lodged.

4.26	 Returns required to be lodged with the 
general manager under clause 4.21(c) 
must be tabled at the next council 
meeting after the return is lodged.

4.27	 Information contained in returns made 
and lodged under clause 4.21 is to be 
made publicly available in accordance 
with the requirements of the Government 
Information (Public Access) Act 2009, the 
Government Information (Public Access) 
Regulation 2009 and any guidelines 
issued by the Information Commissioner.

Disclosure of pecuniary 
interests at meetings
4.28	 A councillor or a council committee 

member who has a pecuniary interest 
in any matter with which the council 
is concerned, and who is present at a 
meeting of the council or committee at 
which the matter is being considered, 
must disclose the nature of the interest to 
the meeting as soon as practicable.

4.29	 The councillor or council committee 
member must not be present at, or in 
sight of, the meeting of the council or 
committee:

(a)	 at any time during which the matter is 
being considered or discussed by the 
council or committee, or

(b)	at any time during which the council or 
committee is voting on any question in 
relation to the matter.

4.30	In the case of a meeting of a board of a 
joint organisation, a voting representative 
is taken to be present at the meeting for 
the purposes of clauses 4.28 and 4.29 
where they participate in the meeting by 
telephone or other electronic means.

4.31	 A disclosure made at a meeting of a 
council or council committee must be 
recorded in the minutes of the meeting.

4.32	 A general notice may be given to the 
general manager in writing by a councillor 
or a council committee member to the 
effect that the councillor or council 
committee member, or the councillor’s or 
council committee member’s spouse, de 
facto partner or relative, is:

(a)	 a member of, or in the employment of, 
a specified company or other body, or

(b)	a partner of, or in the employment of, 
a specified person.

Such a notice is, unless and until the 
notice is withdrawn or until the end of 
the term of the council in which it is 
given (whichever is the sooner), sufficient 
disclosure of the councillor’s or council 
committee member’s interest in a matter 
relating to the specified company, body 
or person that may be the subject of 
consideration by the council or council 
committee after the date of the notice.

4.33	 A councillor or a council committee 
member is not prevented from being 
present at and taking part in a meeting 
at which a matter is being considered, or 
from voting on the matter, merely because 
the councillor or council committee 
member has an interest in the matter of a 
kind referred to in clause 4.6.
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4.34	A person does not breach clauses 4.28 
or 4.29 if the person did not know, 
and could not reasonably be expected 
to have known, that the matter under 
consideration at the meeting was a matter 
in which they had a pecuniary interest.

4.35	 Despite clause 4.29, a councillor who 
has a pecuniary interest in a matter may 
participate in a decision to delegate 
consideration of the matter in question to 
another body or person.

4.36	 Clause 4.29 does not apply to a councillor 
who has a pecuniary interest in a matter 
that is being considered at a meeting if:

(a)	 the matter is a proposal relating to:

(i)	 the making of a principal 
environmental planning instrument 
applying to the whole or a 
significant portion of the council’s 
area, or

(ii)	the amendment, alteration or 
repeal of an environmental 
planning instrument where 
the amendment, alteration or 
repeal applies to the whole or a 
significant portion of the council’s 
area, and

(b)	the pecuniary interest arises only 
because of an interest of the councillor 
in the councillor’s principal place of 
residence or an interest of another 
person (whose interests are relevant 
under clause 4.3) in that person’s 
principal place of residence, and

(c)	 the councillor made a special 
disclosure under clause 4.37 in 
relation to the interest before the 
commencement of the meeting.

4.37	 A special disclosure of a pecuniary 
interest made for the purposes of clause 
4.36(c) must:

(a)	 be in the form set out in schedule 3 of 
this code and contain the information 
required by that form, and

(b)	be laid on the table at a meeting of 
the council as soon as practicable 
after the disclosure is made, and the 
information contained in the special 
disclosure is to be recorded in the 
minutes of the meeting.

4.38	 The Minister for Local Government may, 
conditionally or unconditionally, allow a 
councillor or a council committee member 
who has a pecuniary interest in a matter 
with which the council is concerned to 
be present at a meeting of the council 
or committee, to take part in the 
consideration or discussion of the matter 
and to vote on the matter if the Minister is 
of the opinion:

(a)	 that the number of councillors 
prevented from voting would be so 
great a proportion of the whole as to 
impede the transaction of business, or

(b)	that it is in the interests of the electors 
for the area to do so.

4.39	 A councillor or a council committee 
member with a pecuniary interest in a 
matter who is permitted to be present at 
a meeting of the council or committee, 
to take part in the consideration or 
discussion of the matter and to vote on 
the matter under clause 4.38, must still 
disclose the interest they have in the 
matter in accordance with clause 4.28. 
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Part 5: 
Non-Pecuniary Conflicts
of Interest
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Non-Pecuniary Conflicts of Interest

What is a non-pecuniary 
conflict of interest?
5.1	 Non-pecuniary interests are private or 

personal interests a council official has 
that do not amount to a pecuniary interest 
as defined in clause 4.1 of this code. These 
commonly arise out of family or personal 
relationships, or out of involvement in 
sporting, social, religious or other cultural 
groups and associations, and may include 
an interest of a financial nature. 

5.2	 A non-pecuniary conflict of interest 
exists where a reasonable and informed 
person would perceive that you could 
be influenced by a private interest when 
carrying out your official functions in 
relation to a matter.

5.3	 The personal or political views of a council 
official do not constitute a private interest 
for the purposes of clause 5.2.

5.4	 Non-pecuniary conflicts of interest must 
be identified and appropriately managed 
to uphold community confidence in 
the probity of council decision-making. 
The onus is on you to identify any non-
pecuniary conflict of interest you may 
have in matters that you deal with, to 
disclose the interest fully and in writing, 
and to take appropriate action to manage 
the conflict in accordance with this code.

5.5	 When considering whether or not you 
have a non-pecuniary conflict of interest 
in a matter you are dealing with, it is 
always important to think about how 
others would view your situation.

Managing non-pecuniary 
conflicts of interest
5.6	 Where you have a non-pecuniary conflict 

of interest in a matter for the purposes of 
clause 5.2, you must disclose the relevant 
private interest you have in relation to 
the matter fully and in writing as soon 
as practicable after becoming aware of 
the non-pecuniary conflict of interest 
and on each occasion on which the 
non-pecuniary conflict of interest arises 
in relation to the matter. In the case of 
members of council staff other than the 
general manager, such a disclosure is to 
be made to the staff member’s manager. 
In the case of the general manager, such a 
disclosure is to be made to the mayor.

5.7	 If a disclosure is made at a council or 
committee meeting, both the disclosure 
and the nature of the interest must be 
recorded in the minutes on each occasion 
on which the non-pecuniary conflict of 
interest arises. This disclosure constitutes 
disclosure in writing for the purposes of 
clause 5.6.

5.8	 How you manage a non-pecuniary conflict 
of interest will depend on whether or not 
it is significant. 

5.9	 As a general rule, a non-pecuniary conflict 
of interest will be significant where it does 
not involve a pecuniary interest for the 
purposes of clause 4.1, but it involves:

a)	 a relationship between a council 
official and another person who is 
affected by a decision or a matter 
under consideration that is particularly 
close, such as a current or former 
spouse or de facto partner, a relative 
for the purposes of clause 4.4 or 
another person from the council 
official’s extended family that the 
council official has a close personal 
relationship with, or another person 
living in the same household 
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b)	 other relationships with persons 
who are affected by a decision or a 
matter under consideration that are 
particularly close, such as friendships 
and business relationships. Closeness 
is defined by the nature of the 
friendship or business relationship, the 
frequency of contact and the duration 
of the friendship or relationship.

c)	 an affiliation between the council 
official and an organisation (such 
as a sporting body, club, religious, 
cultural or charitable organisation, 
corporation or association) that is 
affected by a decision or a matter 
under consideration that is particularly 
strong. The strength of a council 
official’s affiliation with an organisation 
is to be determined by the extent to 
which they actively participate in the 
management, administration or other 
activities of the organisation.

d)	 membership, as the council’s 
representative, of the board or 
management committee of an 
organisation that is affected by 
a decision or a matter under 
consideration, in circumstances where 
the interests of the council and the 
organisation are potentially in conflict 
in relation to the particular matter 

e)	 a financial interest (other than an 
interest of a type referred to in clause 
4.6) that is not a pecuniary interest for 
the purposes of clause 4.1

f)	 the conferral or loss of a personal 
benefit other than one conferred or 
lost as a member of the community or 
a broader class of people affected by 
a decision.

5.10	 Significant non-pecuniary conflicts of 
interest must be managed in one of two 
ways:

a)	 by not participating in consideration 
of, or decision making in relation to, 
the matter in which you have the 
significant non-pecuniary conflict of 
interest and the matter being allocated 
to another person for consideration or 
determination, or

b)	 if the significant non-pecuniary 
conflict of interest arises in relation 
to a matter under consideration at 
a council or committee meeting, by 
managing the conflict of interest as 
if you had a pecuniary interest in the 
matter by complying with clauses 4.28 
and 4.29.

5.11	 If you determine that you have a non-
pecuniary conflict of interest in a matter 
that is not significant and does not 
require further action, when disclosing the 
interest you must also explain in writing 
why you consider that the non-pecuniary 
conflict of interest is not significant and 
does not require further action in the 
circumstances.

5.12	 If you are a member of staff of council 
other than the general manager, the 
decision on which option should be taken 
to manage a non-pecuniary conflict of 
interest must be made in consultation 
with and at the direction of your manager. 
In the case of the general manager, the 
decision on which option should be taken 
to manage a non-pecuniary conflict of 
interest must be made in consultation with 
and at the direction of the mayor.

5.13	 Despite clause 5.10(b), a councillor who 
has a significant non-pecuniary conflict 
of interest in a matter, may participate in 
a decision to delegate consideration of 
the matter in question to another body or 
person.
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5.14	 Council committee members are not 
required to declare and manage a 
non-pecuniary conflict of interest in 
accordance with the requirements of this 
Part where it arises from an interest they 
have as a person chosen to represent the 
community, or as a member of a non-
profit organisation or other community or 
special interest group, if they have been 
appointed to represent the organisation 
or group on the council committee.

Political donations
5.15	 Councillors should be aware that matters 

before council or committee meetings 
involving their political donors may also 
give rise to a non-pecuniary conflict of 
interest.

5.16	 Where you are a councillor and have 
received or knowingly benefitted from a 
reportable political donation:

a)	 made by a major political donor in the 
previous four years, and 

b)	 the major political donor has a matter 
before council, 

you must declare a non-pecuniary 
conflict of interest in the matter, disclose 
the nature of the interest, and manage 
the conflict of interest as if you had 
a pecuniary interest in the matter by 
complying with clauses 4.28 and 4.29. A 
disclosure made under this clause must be 
recorded in the minutes of the meeting.

5.17	 For the purposes of this Part:

a)	 a “reportable political donation” has 
the same meaning as it has in section 
6 of the Electoral Funding Act 2018

b)	 “major political donor” has the same 
meaning as it has in the Electoral 
Funding Act 2018.

5.18	 Councillors should note that political 
donations that are not a “reportable 
political donation”, or political donations 
to a registered political party or group 
by which a councillor is endorsed, 
may still give rise to a non-pecuniary 
conflict of interest. Councillors should 
determine whether or not such conflicts 
are significant for the purposes of clause 
5.9 and take the appropriate action to 
manage them.

5.19	 Despite clause 5.16, a councillor who has 
received or knowingly benefitted from a 
reportable political donation of the kind 
referred to in that clause, may participate 
in a decision to delegate consideration of 
the matter in question to another body or 
person.

Loss of quorum as a 
result of compliance 
with this Part
5.20	 A councillor who would otherwise be 

precluded from participating in the 
consideration of a matter under this 
Part because they have a non-pecuniary 
conflict of interest in the matter is 
permitted to participate in consideration 
of the matter if:

a)	 the matter is a proposal relating to:

i)	 the making of a principal 
environmental planning instrument 
applying to the whole or a 
significant portion of the council’s 
area, or

ii)	 the amendment, alteration or 
repeal of an environmental 
planning instrument where 
the amendment, alteration or 
repeal applies to the whole or a 
significant portion of the council’s 
area, and

2525
84



Model Code of Conduct for Local Councils in NSW

b)	 the non-pecuniary conflict of interest 
arises only because of an interest that 
a person has in that person’s principal 
place of residence, and

c)	 the councillor discloses the interest 
they have in the matter that would 
otherwise have precluded their 
participation in consideration of the 
matter under this Part in accordance 
with clause 5.6.

5.21	 The Minister for Local Government may, 
conditionally or unconditionally, allow a 
councillor or a council committee member 
who is precluded under this Part from 
participating in the consideration of a 
matter to be present at a meeting of the 
council or committee, to take part in the 
consideration or discussion of the matter 
and to vote on the matter if the Minister is 
of the opinion:

a)	 that the number of councillors 
prevented from voting would be so 
great a proportion of the whole as to 
impede the transaction of business, or

b)	 that it is in the interests of the electors 
for the area to do so.

5.22	 Where the Minister exempts a councillor 
or committee member from complying 
with a requirement under this Part under 
clause 5.21, the councillor or committee 
member must still disclose any interests 
they have in the matter the exemption 
applies to, in accordance with clause 5.6.

Other business or 
employment
5.23	 The general manager must not engage, 

for remuneration, in private employment, 
contract work or other business outside 
the service of the council without the 
approval of the council.

5.24	 A member of staff must not engage, for 
remuneration, in private employment, 
contract work or other business outside 
the service of the council that relates 
to the business of the council or that 
might conflict with the staff member’s 
council duties unless they have notified 
the general manager in writing of the 
employment, work or business and the 
general manager has given their written 
approval for the staff member to engage 
in the employment, work or business.

5.25	 The general manager may at any time 
prohibit a member of staff from engaging, 
for remuneration, in private employment, 
contract work or other business outside 
the service of the council that relates to 
the business of the council, or that might 
conflict with the staff member’s council 
duties. 

5.26	 A member of staff must not engage, for 
remuneration, in private employment, 
contract work or other business outside 
the service of the council if prohibited 
from doing so.

5.27	 Members of staff must ensure that any 
outside employment, work or business 
they engage in will not:

a)	 conflict with their official duties

b)	 involve using confidential information 
or council resources obtained through 
their work with the council including 
where private use is permitted
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c)	 require them to work while on council 
duty

d)	 discredit or disadvantage the council

e)	 pose, due to fatigue, a risk to their 
health or safety, or to the health and 
safety of their co-workers.

Personal dealings with 
council
5.28	 You may have reason to deal with 

your council in your personal capacity 
(for example, as a ratepayer, recipient 
of a council service or applicant for 
a development consent granted by 
council). You must not expect or request 
preferential treatment in relation to any 
matter in which you have a private interest 
because of your position. You must avoid 
any action that could lead members of 
the public to believe that you are seeking 
preferential treatment.

5.29	 You must undertake any personal dealings 
you have with the council in a manner that 
is consistent with the way other members 
of the community deal with the council. 
You must also ensure that you disclose 
and appropriately manage any conflict 
of interest you may have in any matter in 
accordance with the requirements of this 
code.

Non-Pecuniary Conflicts of Interest
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Part 6: 
Personal Benefit
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Personal Benefit

6.1	 For the purposes of this Part, a gift or 
a benefit is something offered to or 
received by a council official or someone 
personally associated with them for their 
personal use and enjoyment. 

6.2	 A reference to a gift or benefit in this Part 
does not include:

a)	 items with a value of $10 or less

b)	 a political donation for the purposes of 
the Electoral Funding Act 2018 

c)	 a gift provided to the council as part 
of a cultural exchange or sister-city 
relationship that is not converted for 
the personal use or enjoyment of any 
individual council official or someone 
personally associated with them

d)	 a benefit or facility provided by the 
council to an employee or councillor 

e)	 attendance by a council official at a 
work-related event or function for the 
purposes of performing their official 
duties, or

f)	 free or subsidised meals, beverages 
or refreshments provided to council 
officials in conjunction with the 
performance of their official duties 
such as, but not limited to:

i)	 the discussion of official business

ii)	 work-related events such as 
council-sponsored or community 
events, training, education sessions 
or workshops

iii)	 conferences

iv)	 council functions or events

v)	 social functions organised 
by groups, such as council 
committees and community 
organisations.

Gifts and benefits
6.3	 You must avoid situations that would give 

rise to the appearance that a person or 
body is attempting to secure favourable 
treatment from you or from the council, 
through the provision of gifts, benefits or 
hospitality of any kind to you or someone 
personally associated with you.

6.4	 A gift or benefit is deemed to have been 
accepted by you for the purposes of 
this Part, where it is received by you or 
someone personally associated with you.

How are offers of gifts 
and benefits to be dealt 
with?
6.5	 You must not:

a)	 seek or accept a bribe or other 
improper inducement

b)	 seek gifts or benefits of any kind

c)	 accept any gift or benefit that may 
create a sense of obligation on your 
part, or may be perceived to be 
intended or likely to influence you in 
carrying out your public duty

d)	 subject to clause 6.7, accept any gift 
or benefit of more than token value as 
defined by clause 6.9

e)	 accept an offer of cash or a cash‑like 
gift as defined by clause 6.13, 
regardless of the amount 

f)	 participate in competitions for prizes 
where eligibility is based on the 
council being in or entering into a 
customer–supplier relationship with 
the competition organiser

g)	 personally benefit from reward points 
programs when purchasing on behalf 
of the council.
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6.6	 Where you receive a gift or benefit of any 
value other than one referred to in clause 
6.2, you must disclose this promptly to 
your manager or the general manager in 
writing. The recipient, manager, or general 
manager must ensure that, at a minimum, 
the following details are recorded in the 
council’s gift register:

a)	 the nature of the gift or benefit

b)	 the estimated monetary value of the 
gift or benefit

c)	 the name of the person who provided 
the gift or benefit, and

d)	 the date on which the gift or benefit 
was received.

6.7	 Where you receive a gift or benefit 
of more than token value that cannot 
reasonably be refused or returned, the 
gift or benefit must be surrendered to the 
council, unless the nature of the gift or 
benefit makes this impractical.

Gifts and benefits of 
token value
6.8	 You may accept gifts and benefits of 

token value. Gifts and benefits of token 
value are one or more gifts or benefits 
received from a person or organisation 
over a 12-month period that, when 
aggregated, do not exceed a value of 
$100. They include, but are not limited to:

a)	 invitations to and attendance at local 
social, cultural or sporting events with 
a ticket value that does not exceed 
$100

b)	 gifts of alcohol that do not exceed a 
value of $100

c)	 ties, scarves, coasters, tie pins, diaries, 
chocolates or flowers or the like

d)	 prizes or awards that do not exceed 
$100 in value.

Gifts and benefits of 
more than token value
6.9	 Gifts or benefits that exceed $100 in value 

are gifts or benefits of more than token 
value for the purposes of clause 6.5(d) 
and, subject to clause 6.7, must not be 
accepted.

6.10	 Gifts and benefits of more than token 
value include, but are not limited to, 
tickets to major sporting events (such 
as international matches or matches in 
national sporting codes) with a ticket 
value that exceeds $100, corporate 
hospitality at a corporate facility at 
major sporting events, free or discounted 
products or services for personal use 
provided on terms that are not available 
to the general public or a broad class 
of persons, the use of holiday homes, 
artworks, free or discounted travel.

6.11	 Where you have accepted a gift or 
benefit of token value from a person 
or organisation, you must not accept 
a further gift or benefit from the same 
person or organisation or another 
person associated with that person or 
organisation within a single 12-month 
period where the value of the gift, added 
to the value of earlier gifts received from 
the same person or organisation, or a 
person associated with that person or 
organisation, during the same 12-month 
period would exceed $100 in value.

6.12	 For the purposes of this Part, the value of 
a gift or benefit is the monetary value of 
the gift or benefit inclusive of GST.
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Personal Benefit

“Cash-like gifts”
6.13	 For the purposes of clause 6.5(e), “cash-

like gifts” include, but are not limited to, 
gift vouchers, credit cards, debit cards 
with credit on them, prepayments such as 
phone or internet credit, lottery tickets, 
memberships or entitlements to discounts 
that are not available to the general public 
or a broad class of persons.

Improper and undue 
influence
6.14	 You must not use your position to 

influence other council officials in the 
performance of their official functions to 
obtain a private benefit for yourself or 
for somebody else. A councillor will not 
be in breach of this clause where they 
seek to influence other council officials 
through the proper exercise of their role 
as prescribed under the LGA.

6.15	 You must not take advantage (or seek to 
take advantage) of your status or position 
with council, or of functions you perform 
for council, in order to obtain a private 
benefit for yourself or for any other 
person or body.
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Part 7: 
Relationships Between 
Council Officials
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Relationships Between Council Officials

Obligations of 
councillors and 
administrators
7.1	 Each council is a body politic. The 

councillors or administrator/s are the 
governing body of the council. Under 
section 223 of the LGA, the role of the 
governing body of the council includes 
the development and endorsement of the 
strategic plans, programs, strategies and 
policies of the council, including those 
relating to workforce policy, and to keep 
the performance of the council under 
review.

7.2	 Councillors or administrators must not:

a)	 direct council staff other than by 
giving appropriate direction to the 
general manager by way of council 
or committee resolution, or by the 
mayor or administrator exercising their 
functions under section 226 of the 
LGA 

b)	 in any public or private forum, direct 
or influence, or attempt to direct or 
influence, any other member of the 
staff of the council or a delegate of the 
council in the exercise of the functions 
of the staff member or delegate 

c)	 contact a member of the staff of the 
council on council-related business 
unless in accordance with the policy 
and procedures governing the 
interaction of councillors and council 
staff that have been authorised by the 
council and the general manager

d)	 contact or issue instructions to any of 
the council’s contractors, including the 
council’s legal advisers, unless by the 
mayor or administrator exercising their 
functions under section 226 of the 
LGA. 

7.3	 Despite clause 7.2, councillors may 
contact the council’s external auditor 
or the chair of the council’s audit risk 
and improvement committee to provide 
information reasonably necessary for 
the external auditor or the audit, risk and 
improvement committee to effectively 
perform their functions.

Obligations of staff
7.4	 Under section 335 of the LGA, the role of 

the general manager includes conducting 
the day-to-day management of the 
council in accordance with the strategic 
plans, programs, strategies and policies of 
the council, implementing without undue 
delay, lawful decisions of the council 
and ensuring that the mayor and other 
councillors are given timely information 
and advice and the administrative 
and professional support necessary 
to effectively discharge their official 
functions.

7.5	 Members of staff of council must:

a)	 give their attention to the business of 
the council while on duty

b)	 ensure that their work is carried out 
ethically, efficiently, economically and 
effectively

c)	 carry out reasonable and lawful 
directions given by any person having 
authority to give such directions

d)	 give effect to the lawful decisions, 
policies and procedures of the council, 
whether or not the staff member 
agrees with or approves of them

e)	 ensure that any participation in 
political activities outside the service 
of the council does not interfere with 
the performance of their official duties.
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Inappropriate 
interactions
7.6	 You must not engage in any of the 

following inappropriate interactions:

a)	 councillors and administrators 
approaching staff and staff 
organisations to discuss individual or 
operational staff matters (other than 
matters relating to broader workforce 
policy), grievances, workplace 
investigations and disciplinary matters

b)	 council staff approaching councillors 
and administrators to discuss 
individual or operational staff matters 
(other than matters relating to 
broader workforce policy), grievances, 
workplace investigations and 
disciplinary matters

c)	 subject to clause 8.6, council staff 
refusing to give information that is 
available to other councillors to a 
particular councillor

d)	 councillors and administrators who 
have lodged an application with the 
council, discussing the matter with 
council staff in staff-only areas of the 
council

e)	 councillors and administrators 
approaching members of local 
planning panels or discussing any 
application that is either before the 
panel or that will come before the 
panel at some future time, except 
during a panel meeting where the 
application forms part of the agenda 
and the councillor or administrator has 
a right to be heard by the panel at the 
meeting

f)	 councillors and administrators being 
overbearing or threatening to council 
staff

g)	 council staff being overbearing 
or threatening to councillors or 
administrators

h)	 councillors and administrators making 
personal attacks on council staff or 
engaging in conduct towards staff 
that would be contrary to the general 
conduct provisions in Part 3 of this 
code in public forums including social 
media 

i)	 councillors and administrators 
directing or pressuring council staff 
in the performance of their work, or 
recommendations they should make

j)	 council staff providing ad hoc advice 
to councillors and administrators 
without recording or documenting the 
interaction as they would if the advice 
was provided to a member of the 
community

k)	 council staff meeting with applicants 
or objectors alone AND outside office 
hours to discuss planning applications 
or proposals

l)	 councillors attending on-site 
inspection meetings with lawyers 
and/or consultants engaged by the 
council associated with current or 
proposed legal proceedings unless 
permitted to do so by the council’s 
general manager or, in the case of the 
mayor or administrator, unless they 
are exercising their functions under 
section 226 of the LGA.
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Access to Information and 
Council Resources
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Access to Information and Council Resources

Councillor and 
administrator access to 
information
8.1	 The general manager is responsible 

for ensuring that councillors and 
administrators can access information 
necessary for the performance of their 
official functions. The general manager 
and public officer are also responsible 
for ensuring that members of the public 
can access publicly available council 
information under the Government 
Information (Public Access) Act 2009 (the 
GIPA Act). 

8.2	 The general manager must provide 
councillors and administrators with the 
information necessary to effectively 
discharge their official functions.

8.3	 Members of staff of council must 
provide full and timely information to 
councillors and administrators sufficient 
to enable them to exercise their official 
functions and in accordance with council 
procedures.

8.4	 Members of staff of council who provide 
any information to a particular councillor 
in the performance of their official 
functions must also make it available to 
any other councillor who requests it and in 
accordance with council procedures.

8.5	 Councillors and administrators who have a 
private interest only in council information 
have the same rights of access as any 
member of the public.

8.6	 Despite clause 8.4, councillors and 
administrators who are precluded from 
participating in the consideration of a 
matter under this code because they 
have a conflict of interest in the matter, 
are not entitled to request access to 
council information in relation to the 
matter unless the information is otherwise 
available to members of the public, or 
the council has determined to make the 
information available under the GIPA Act.

Councillors and 
administrators to 
properly examine and 
consider information
8.7	 Councillors and administrators must 

ensure that they comply with their 
duty under section 439 of the LGA to 
act honestly and exercise a reasonable 
degree of care and diligence by properly 
examining and considering all the 
information provided to them relating to 
matters that they are required to make a 
decision on. 

Refusal of access to 
information
8.8	 Where the general manager or public 

officer determine to refuse access to 
information requested by a councillor or 
administrator, they must act reasonably. In 
reaching this decision they must take into 
account whether or not the information 
requested is necessary for the councillor 
or administrator to perform their official 
functions (see clause 8.2) and whether 
they have disclosed a conflict of interest 
in the matter the information relates to 
that would preclude their participation in 
consideration of the matter (see clause 
8.6). The general manager or public 
officer must state the reasons for the 
decision if access is refused.
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Use of certain council 
information
8.9	 In regard to information obtained in your 

capacity as a council official, you must:

a)	 subject to clause 8.14, only access 
council information needed for council 
business

b)	 not use that council information for 
private purposes

c)	 not seek or obtain, either directly 
or indirectly, any financial benefit or 
other improper advantage for yourself, 
or any other person or body, from any 
information to which you have access 
by virtue of your office or position with 
council

d)	 only release council information in 
accordance with established council 
policies and procedures and in 
compliance with relevant legislation.

Use and security of 
confidential information
8.10	 You must maintain the integrity and 

security of confidential information in 
your possession, or for which you are 
responsible. 

8.11	 In addition to your general obligations 
relating to the use of council information, 
you must:

a)	 only access confidential information 
that you have been authorised to 
access and only do so for the purposes 
of exercising your official functions

b)	 protect confidential information

c)	 only release confidential information if 
you have authority to do so

d)	 only use confidential information for 
the purpose for which it is intended to 
be used

e)	 not use confidential information 
gained through your official position 
for the purpose of securing a private 
benefit for yourself or for any other 
person

f)	 not use confidential information 
with the intention to cause harm or 
detriment to the council or any other 
person or body

g)	 not disclose any confidential 
information discussed during a 
confidential session of a council or 
committee meeting or any other 
confidential forum (such as, but not 
limited to, workshops or briefing 
sessions).

Personal information
8.12	 When dealing with personal information 

you must comply with:

a)	 the Privacy and Personal Information 
Protection Act 1998

b)	 the Health Records and Information 
Privacy Act 2002

c)	 the Information Protection Principles 
and Health Privacy Principles 

d)	 the council’s privacy management 
plan

e)	 the Privacy Code of Practice for Local 
Government

Use of council resources
8.13	 You must use council resources ethically, 

effectively, efficiently and carefully in 
exercising your official functions, and 
must not use them for private purposes, 
except when supplied as part of a 
contract of employment (but not for 
private business purposes), unless this use 
is lawfully authorised and proper payment 
is made where appropriate.
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8.14	 Union delegates and consultative 
committee members may have reasonable 
access to council resources and 
information for the purposes of carrying 
out their industrial responsibilities, 
including but not limited to:

a)	 the representation of members with 
respect to disciplinary matters

b)	 the representation of employees with 
respect to grievances and disputes

c)	 functions associated with the role of 
the local consultative committee.

8.15	 You must be scrupulous in your use of 
council property, including intellectual 
property, official services, facilities, 
technology and electronic devices and 
must not permit their misuse by any other 
person or body.

8.16	 You must avoid any action or situation 
that could create the appearance that 
council property, official services or public 
facilities are being improperly used for 
your benefit or the benefit of any other 
person or body.

8.17	 You must not use council resources 
(including council staff), property or 
facilities for the purpose of assisting 
your election campaign or the election 
campaigns of others unless the resources, 
property or facilities are otherwise 
available for use or hire by the public and 
any publicly advertised fee is paid for use 
of the resources, property or facility.

8.18	 You must not use the council letterhead, 
council crests, council email or social 
media or other information that could 
give the appearance it is official council 
material:

a)	 for the purpose of assisting your 
election campaign or the election 
campaign of others, or

b)	 for other non-official purposes.

8.19	 You must not convert any property of the 
council to your own use unless properly 
authorised.

Internet access 
8.20	You must not use council’s computer 

resources or mobile or other devices 
to search for, access, download or 
communicate any material of an offensive, 
obscene, pornographic, threatening, 
abusive or defamatory nature, or that 
could otherwise lead to criminal penalty 
or civil liability and/or damage the 
council’s reputation.

Council record keeping
8.21	 You must comply with the requirements 

of the State Records Act 1998 and the 
council’s records management policy.

8.22	 All information created, sent and received 
in your official capacity is a council record 
and must be managed in accordance with 
the requirements of the State Records Act 
1998 and the council’s approved records 
management policies and practices.

8.23	 All information stored in either soft or 
hard copy on council supplied resources 
(including technology devices and email 
accounts) is deemed to be related to the 
business of the council and will be treated 
as council records, regardless of whether 
the original intention was to create the 
information for personal purposes.

8.24	 You must not destroy, alter, or dispose 
of council information or records, unless 
authorised to do so. If you need to alter 
or dispose of council information or 
records, you must do so in consultation 
with the council’s records manager and 
comply with the requirements of the State 
Records Act 1998.
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Councillor access to 
council buildings
8.25	 Councillors and administrators are entitled 

to have access to the council chamber, 
committee room, mayor’s office (subject 
to availability), councillors’ rooms, and 
public areas of council’s buildings during 
normal business hours and for meetings. 
Councillors and administrators needing 
access to these facilities at other times 
must obtain authority from the general 
manager.

8.26	 Councillors and administrators must 
not enter staff-only areas of council 
buildings without the approval of the 
general manager (or their delegate) or as 
provided for in the procedures governing 
the interaction of councillors and council 
staff.

8.27	 Councillors and administrators must 
ensure that when they are within a staff 
only area they refrain from conduct 
that could be perceived to improperly 
influence council staff decisions.
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Part 9: 
Maintaining the Integrity 
of this Code
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Maintaining the Integrity of this Code

Complaints made for an 
improper purpose
9.1	 You must not make or threaten to make 

a complaint or cause a complaint to be 
made alleging a breach of this code for an 
improper purpose. 

9.2	 For the purposes of clause 9.1, a complaint 
is made for an improper purpose where it 
is trivial, frivolous, vexatious or not made 
in good faith, or where it otherwise lacks 
merit and has been made substantially for 
one or more of the following purposes:

a)	 to bully, intimidate or harass another 
council official

b)	 to damage another council official’s 
reputation

c)	 to obtain a political advantage

d)	 to influence a council official in the 
exercise of their official functions or 
to prevent or disrupt the exercise of 
those functions

e)	 to influence the council in the exercise 
of its functions or to prevent or disrupt 
the exercise of those functions

f)	 to avoid disciplinary action under the 
Procedures

g)	 to take reprisal action against a person 
for making a complaint alleging a 
breach of this code 

h)	 to take reprisal action against a person 
for exercising a function prescribed 
under the Procedures 

i)	 to prevent or disrupt the effective 
administration of this code under the 
Procedures.

Detrimental action
9.3	 You must not take detrimental action 

or cause detrimental action to be taken 
against a person substantially in reprisal 
for a complaint they have made alleging a 
breach of this code.

9.4	 You must not take detrimental action 
or cause detrimental action to be taken 
against a person substantially in reprisal 
for any function they have exercised under 
the Procedures.

9.5	 For the purposes of clauses 9.3 and 9.4, 
a detrimental action is an action causing, 
comprising or involving any of the 
following:

a)	 injury, damage or loss

b)	 intimidation or harassment

c)	 discrimination, disadvantage or 
adverse treatment in relation to 
employment

d)	 dismissal from, or prejudice in, 
employment

e)	 disciplinary proceedings.

Compliance with 
requirements under the 
Procedures 
9.6	 You must not engage in conduct that 

is calculated to impede or disrupt the 
consideration of a matter under the 
Procedures.

9.7	 You must comply with a reasonable 
and lawful request made by a person 
exercising a function under the 
Procedures. A failure to make a written 
or oral submission invited under the 
Procedures will not constitute a breach of 
this clause.

9.8	 You must comply with a practice ruling 
made by the Office under the Procedures.
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Disclosure of 
information about 
the consideration of 
a matter under the 
Procedures
9.9	 All allegations of breaches of this 

code must be dealt with under and in 
accordance with the Procedures.

9.10	 You must not allege breaches of this code 
other than by way of a complaint made or 
initiated under the Procedures. 

9.11	 You must not make allegations about, or 
disclose information about, suspected 
breaches of this code at council, 
committee or other meetings, whether 
open to the public or not, or in any other 
forum, whether public or not.

9.12	 You must not disclose information about 
a complaint you have made alleging a 
breach of this code or any other matter 
being considered under the Procedures 
except for the purposes of seeking legal 
advice, unless the disclosure is otherwise 
permitted under the Procedures.

9.13	 Nothing under this Part prevents a person 
from making a public interest disclosure 
to an appropriate public authority or 
investigative authority under the Public 
Interest Disclosures Act 1994.

Complaints alleging a 
breach of this Part
9.14	 Complaints alleging a breach of this Part 

by a councillor, the general manager or 
an administrator are to be managed by 
the Office. This clause does not prevent 
the Office from referring an alleged 
breach of this Part back to the council 
for consideration in accordance with the 
Procedures.

9.15	 Complaints alleging a breach of this 
Part by other council officials are to be 
managed by the general manager in 
accordance with the Procedures.
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Disclosures of Interest and Other
Matters in Written Returns
Submitted Under Clause 4.21
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Schedule 1

Part 1: 
Preliminary
Definitions
1.	 For the purposes of the schedules to this 

code, the following definitions apply:

	 address means:

a)	 in relation to a person other than a 
corporation, the last residential or 
business address of the person known 
to the councillor or designated person 
disclosing the address, or

b)	 in relation to a corporation, the 
address of the registered office of the 
corporation in New South Wales or, if 
there is no such office, the address of 
the principal office of the corporation 
in the place where it is registered, or

c)	 in relation to any real property, the 
street address of the property.

	 de facto partner has the same meaning as 
defined in section 21C of the Interpretation 
Act 1987.

	 disposition of property means a 
conveyance, transfer, assignment, 
settlement, delivery, payment or other 
alienation of property, including the 
following:

a)	 the allotment of shares in a company

b)	 the creation of a trust in respect of 
property

c)	 the grant or creation of a lease, 
mortgage, charge, easement, licence, 
power, partnership or interest in 
respect of property

d)	 the release, discharge, surrender, 
forfeiture or abandonment, at law or 
in equity, of a debt, contract or chose 
in action, or of an interest in respect of 
property

e)	 the exercise by a person of a general 
power of appointment over property 
in favour of another person

f)	 a transaction entered into by a person 
who intends by the transaction to 
diminish, directly or indirectly, the 
value of the person’s own property 
and to increase the value of the 
property of another person.

	 gift means a disposition of property 
made otherwise than by will (whether 
or not by instrument in writing) without 
consideration, or with inadequate 
consideration, in money or money’s 
worth passing from the person to whom 
the disposition was made to the person 
who made the disposition, but does not 
include a financial or other contribution to 
travel.

	 interest means:

a)	 in relation to property, an estate, 
interest, right or power, at law or in 
equity, in or over the property, or

b)	 in relation to a corporation, a relevant 
interest (within the meaning of section 
9 of the Corporations Act 2001 of the 
Commonwealth) in securities issued or 
made available by the corporation.

	 listed company means a company that 
is listed within the meaning of section 
9 of the Corporations Act 2001 of the 
Commonwealth.

	 occupation includes trade, profession and 
vocation.

	 professional or business association 
means an incorporated or unincorporated 
body or organisation having as one of its 
objects or activities the promotion of the 
economic interests of its members in any 
occupation.
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	 property includes money.

	 return date means:

a)	 in the case of a return made under 
clause 4.21(a), the date on which 
a person became a councillor or 
designated person

b)	 in the case of a return made under 
clause 4.21(b), 30 June of the year in 
which the return is made

c)	 in the case of a return made under 
clause 4.21(c), the date on which 
the councillor or designated person 
became aware of the interest to be 
disclosed.

	 relative includes any of the following:

a)	 a person’s spouse or de facto partner

b)	 a person’s parent, grandparent, 
brother, sister, uncle, aunt, nephew, 
niece, lineal descendant or adopted 
child 

c)	 a person’s spouse’s or de facto 
partner’s parent, grandparent, brother, 
sister, uncle, aunt, nephew, niece, lineal 
descendant or adopted child

d)	 the spouse or de factor partner of a 
person referred to in paragraphs (b) 
and (c).

	 travel includes accommodation incidental 
to a journey.

Matters relating to the 
interests that must be 
included in returns
2.	 Interests etc. outside New South Wales: 

A reference in this schedule or in schedule 
2 to a disclosure concerning a corporation 
or other thing includes any reference to 
a disclosure concerning a corporation 
registered, or other thing arising or 
received, outside New South Wales.

3.	 References to interests in real property: 
A reference in this schedule or in schedule 
2 to real property in which a councillor or 
designated person has an interest includes 
a reference to any real property situated 
in Australia in which the councillor or 
designated person has an interest.

4.	 Gifts, loans etc. from related corporations: 
For the purposes of this schedule and 
schedule 2, gifts or contributions to travel 
given, loans made, or goods or services 
supplied, to a councillor or designated 
person by two or more corporations that 
are related to each other for the purposes 
of section 50 of the Corporations Act 2001 
of the Commonwealth are all given, made 
or supplied by a single corporation.
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Part 2: 
Pecuniary 
interests to be 
disclosed in 
returns
Real property
5.	 A person making a return under clause 

4.21 of this code must disclose:

a)	 the street address of each parcel of 
real property in which they had an 
interest on the return date, and

b)	 the street address of each parcel of 
real property in which they had an 
interest in the period since 30 June of 
the previous financial year, and

c)	 the nature of the interest.

6.	 An interest in a parcel of real property 
need not be disclosed in a return if the 
person making the return had the interest 
only:

a)	 as executor of the will, or administrator 
of the estate, of a deceased person 
and not as a beneficiary under the will 
or intestacy, or

b)	 as a trustee, if the interest was 
acquired in the ordinary course of an 
occupation not related to their duties 
as the holder of a position required to 
make a return.

7.	 An interest in a parcel of real property 
need not be disclosed in a return if the 
person ceased to hold the interest prior 
to becoming a councillor or designated 
person.

8.	 For the purposes of clause 5 of this 
schedule, “interest” includes an option to 
purchase.

Gifts 
9.	 A person making a return under clause 

4.21 of this code must disclose:

a)	 a description of each gift received 
in the period since 30 June of the 
previous financial year, and

b)	 the name and address of the donor of 
each of the gifts.

10.	 A gift need not be included in a return if:

a)	 it did not exceed $500, unless it was 
among gifts totalling more than $500 
made by the same person during a 
period of 12 months or less, or

b)	 it was a political donation disclosed, or 
required to be disclosed, under Part 3 
of the Electoral Funding Act 2018, or

c)	 the donor was a relative of the donee, 
or

d)	 subject to paragraph (a), it was 
received prior to the person becoming 
a councillor or designated person.

11.	 For the purposes of clause 10 of this 
schedule, the amount of a gift other than 
money is an amount equal to the value of 
the property given.

Contributions to travel
12.	 A person making a return under clause 

4.21 of this code must disclose:

a)	 the name and address of each person 
who made any financial or other 
contribution to the expenses of any 
travel undertaken by the person in the 
period since 30 June of the previous 
financial year, and
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b)	 the dates on which the travel was 
undertaken, and

c)	 the names of the states and territories, 
and of the overseas countries, in which 
the travel was undertaken.

13.	 A financial or other contribution to any 
travel need not be disclosed under this 
clause if it:

a)	 was made from public funds (including 
a contribution arising from travel on 
free passes issued under an Act or 
from travel in government or council 
vehicles), or

b)	 was made by a relative of the traveller, 
or

c)	 was made in the ordinary course of an 
occupation of the traveller that is not 
related to their functions as the holder 
of a position requiring the making of a 
return, or

d)	 did not exceed $250, unless it was 
among gifts totalling more than $250 
made by the same person during a 
12-month period or less, or

e)	 was a political donation disclosed, or 
required to be disclosed, under Part 3 
of the Electoral Funding Act 2018, or

f)	 was made by a political party of which 
the traveller was a member and the 
travel was undertaken for the purpose 
of political activity of the party in New 
South Wales, or to enable the traveller 
to represent the party within Australia, 
or

g)	 subject to paragraph (d) it was 
received prior to the person becoming 
a councillor or designated person.

14.	 For the purposes of clause 13 of this 
schedule, the amount of a contribution 
(other than a financial contribution) is 
an amount equal to the value of the 
contribution.

Interests and positions 
in corporations
15.	 A person making a return under clause 

4.21 of this code must disclose:

a)	 the name and address of each 
corporation in which they had an 
interest or held a position (whether 
remunerated or not) on the return 
date, and

b)	 the name and address of each 
corporation in which they had an 
interest or held a position in the period 
since 30 June of the previous financial 
year, and

c)	 the nature of the interest, or 
the position held, in each of the 
corporations, and

d)	 a description of the principal objects 
(if any) of each of the corporations, 
except in the case of a listed company.

16.	 An interest in, or a position held in, a 
corporation need not be disclosed if the 
corporation is:

a)	 formed for the purpose of providing 
recreation or amusement, or for 
promoting commerce, industry, art, 
science, religion or charity, or for any 
other community purpose, and

b)	 required to apply its profits or other 
income in promoting its objects, and

c)	 prohibited from paying any dividend 
to its members.

17.	 An interest in a corporation need not be 
disclosed if the interest is a beneficial 
interest in shares in a company that does 
not exceed 10 per cent of the voting rights 
in the company.

18.	 An interest or a position in a corporation 
need not be disclosed if the person 
ceased to hold the interest or position 
prior to becoming a councillor or 
designated person.
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Interests as a property 
developer or a close 
associate of a property 
developer
19.	 A person making a return under clause 

4.21 of this code must disclose whether 
they were a property developer, or a close 
associate of a corporation that, or an 
individual who, is a property developer, on 
the return date.

20.	 For the purposes of clause 19 of this 
schedule:

	 close associate, in relation to a corporation 
or an individual, has the same meaning 
as it has in section 53 of the Electoral 
Funding Act 2018.

	 property developer has the same meaning 
as it has in Division 7 of Part 3 of the 
Electoral Funding Act 2018.

Positions in trade unions 
and professional or 
business associations
21.	 A person making a return under clause 

4.21 of the code must disclose:

a)	 the name of each trade union, and 
of each professional or business 
association, in which they held any 
position (whether remunerated or not) 
on the return date, and

b)	 the name of each trade union, and 
of each professional or business 
association, in which they have held 
any position (whether remunerated or 
not) in the period since 30 June of the 
previous financial year, and

c)	 a description of the position held in 
each of the unions and associations.

22.	 A position held in a trade union or a 
professional or business association need 
not be disclosed if the person ceased to 
hold the position prior to becoming a 
councillor or designated person. 

Dispositions of real 
property
23.	 A person making a return under clause 

4.21 of this code must disclose particulars 
of each disposition of real property by the 
person (including the street address of 
the affected property) in the period since 
30 June of the previous financial year, 
under which they wholly or partly retained 
the use and benefit of the property or the 
right to re-acquire the property.

24.	 A person making a return under clause 
4.21 of this code must disclose particulars 
of each disposition of real property to 
another person (including the street 
address of the affected property) in the 
period since 30 June of the previous 
financial year, that is made under 
arrangements with, but is not made by, 
the person making the return, being 
a disposition under which the person 
making the return obtained wholly or 
partly the use of the property. 

25.	 A disposition of real property need not be 
disclosed if it was made prior to a person 
becoming a councillor or designated 
person.
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Sources of income
26.	 A person making a return under clause 

4.21 of this code must disclose:

a)	 each source of income that the person 
reasonably expects to receive in the 
period commencing on the first day 
after the return date and ending on 
the following 30 June, and

b)	 each source of income received by the 
person in the period since 30 June of 
the previous financial year.

27.	 A reference in clause 26 of this schedule 
to each source of income received, or 
reasonably expected to be received, by a 
person is a reference to:

a)	 in relation to income from an 
occupation of the person: 

(i)	 a description of the occupation, 
and

(ii)	 if the person is employed or the 
holder of an office, the name and 
address of their employer, or a 
description of the office, and

(iii)	if the person has entered into a 
partnership with other persons, 
the name (if any) under which the 
partnership is conducted, or

b)	 in relation to income from a trust, the 
name and address of the settlor and 
the trustee, or

c)	 in relation to any other income, a 
description sufficient to identify 
the person from whom, or the 
circumstances in which, the income 
was, or is reasonably expected to be, 
received.

28.	 The source of any income need not 
be disclosed by a person in a return if 
the amount of the income received, or 
reasonably expected to be received, 
by the person from that source did 
not exceed $500, or is not reasonably 
expected to exceed $500, as the case 
may be.

29.	 The source of any income received by the 
person that they ceased to receive prior 
to becoming a councillor or designated 
person need not be disclosed.

30.	 A fee paid to a councillor or to the mayor 
or deputy mayor under sections 248 or 
249 of the LGA need not be disclosed.

Debts
31.	 A person making a return under clause 

4.21 of this code must disclose the name 
and address of each person to whom the 
person was liable to pay any debt:

a)	 on the return date, and

b)	 at any time in the period since 30 June 
of the previous financial year.

32.	 A liability to pay a debt must be disclosed 
by a person in a return made under clause 
4.21 whether or not the amount, or any 
part of the amount, to be paid was due 
and payable on the return date or at any 
time in the period since 30 June of the 
previous financial year, as the case may 
be.

33.	 A liability to pay a debt need not be 
disclosed by a person in a return if:

a)	 the amount to be paid did not exceed 
$500 on the return date or in the 
period since 30 June of the previous 
financial year, as the case may be, 
unless: 
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(i)	 the debt was one of two or more 
debts that the person was liable 
to pay to one person on the return 
date, or at any time in the period 
since 30 June of the previous 
financial year, as the case may be, 
and 

(ii)	the amounts to be paid exceeded, 
in the aggregate, $500, or

b)	 the person was liable to pay the debt 
to a relative, or

c)	 in the case of a debt arising from a 
loan of money the person was liable to 
pay the debt to an authorised deposit-
taking institution or other person 
whose ordinary business includes 
the lending of money, and the loan 
was made in the ordinary course of 
business of the lender, or

d)	 in the case of a debt arising from the 
supply of goods or services: 

(i)	 the goods or services were 
supplied in the period of 12 
months immediately preceding 
the return date, or were supplied 
in the period since 30 June of the 
previous financial year, as the case 
may be, or

(ii)	the goods or services were 
supplied in the ordinary course of 
any occupation of the person that 
is not related to their duties as the 
holder of a position required to 
make a return, or

e)	 subject to paragraph (a), the debt 
was discharged prior to the person 
becoming a councillor or designated 
person.

Discretionary 
disclosures
34.	 A person may voluntarily disclose in a 

return any interest, benefit, advantage or 
liability, whether pecuniary or not, that 
is not required to be disclosed under 
another provision of this Schedule.
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Schedule 2: 
Form of Written Return of 
Interests Submitted Under 
Clause 4.21
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‘Disclosures by 
councillors and 
designated persons’ 
return
1.	 The pecuniary interests and other 

matters to be disclosed in this return are 
prescribed by Schedule 1 of the Model 
Code of Conduct for Local Councils in 
NSW (the Model Code of Conduct).

2.	 If this is the first return you have been 
required to lodge with the general 
manager after becoming a councillor 
or designated person, do not complete 
Parts C, D and I of the return. All other 
parts of the return should be completed 
with appropriate information based on 
your circumstances at the return date, 
that is, the date on which you became a 
councillor or designated person.

3.	 If you have previously lodged a return 
with the general manager and you are 
completing this return for the purposes 
of disclosing a new interest that was not 
disclosed in the last return you lodged 
with the general manager, you must 
complete all parts of the return with 
appropriate information for the period 
from 30 June of the previous financial 
year or the date on which you became 
a councillor or designated person, 
(whichever is the later date), to the return 
date which is the date you became aware 
of the new interest to be disclosed in your 
updated return.

4.	 If you have previously lodged a return with 
the general manager and are submitting a 
new return for the new financial year, you 
must complete all parts of the return with 
appropriate information for the 12-month 
period commencing on 30 June of the 
previous year to 30 June this year.

5.	 This form must be completed using block 
letters or typed.

6.	 If there is insufficient space for all the 
information you are required to disclose, 
you must attach an appendix which is to 
be properly identified and signed by you.

7.	 If there are no pecuniary interests or 
other matters of the kind required to be 
disclosed under a heading in this form, 
the word “NIL” is to be placed in an 
appropriate space under that heading.

Important information
This information is being collected for the 
purpose of complying with clause 4.21 of the 
Model Code of Conduct.

You must not lodge a return that you know or 
ought reasonably to know is false or misleading 
in a material particular (see clause 4.23 of the 
Model Code of Conduct). Complaints about 
breaches of these requirements are to be 
referred to the Office of Local Government 
and may result in disciplinary action by the 
council, the Chief Executive of the Office 
of Local Government or the NSW Civil and 
Administrative Tribunal.

The information collected on this form will be 
kept by the general manager in a register of 
returns. The general manager is required to 
table all returns at a council meeting.

Information contained in returns made and 
lodged under clause 4.21 is to be made publicly 
available in accordance with the requirements 
of the Government Information (Public Access) 
Act 2009, the Government Information (Public 
Access) Regulation 2009 and any guidelines 
issued by the Information Commissioner.

You have an obligation to keep the information 
contained in this return up to date. If you 
become aware of a new interest that must 
be disclosed in this return, or an interest that 
you have previously failed to disclose, you 
must submit an updated return within three 
months of becoming aware of the previously 
undisclosed interest.
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Disclosure of pecuniary interests and other matters by [full name of councillor or designated 
person]

as at [return date]

in respect of the period from [date] to [date]

[councillor’s or designated person’s signature]

[date]

A. Real Property

Street address of each parcel of real property in which I had an interest at the 
return date/at any time since 30 June

Nature of interest

B. Sources of income

1 �Sources of income I reasonably expect to receive from an occupation in the period commencing 
on the first day after the return date and ending on the following 30 June

Sources of income I received from an occupation at any time since 30 June

Description of occupation Name and address of employer 
or description of office held (if 
applicable)

Name under 
which partnership 
conducted (if 
applicable)

2 �Sources of income I reasonably expect to receive from a trust in the period commencing on the 
first day after the return date and ending on the following 30 June

Sources of income I received from a trust since 30 June

Name and address of settlor Name and address of trustee

3 �Sources of other income I reasonably expect to receive in the period commencing on the first 
day after the return date and ending on the following 30 June

Sources of other income I received at any time since 30 June

[Include description sufficient to identify the person from whom, or the circumstances in which, 
that income was received]

C. Gifts

Description of each gift I received at any time  
since 30 June

Name and address of donor
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D. Contributions to travel

Name and address of each person 
who made any financial or other 
contribution to any travel undertaken 
by me at any time since 30 June	

Dates on which 
travel was 
undertaken

Name of States, Territories of the 
Commonwealth and overseas 
countries in which travel was 
undertaken

E. Interests and positions in corporations

Name and address of each 
corporation in which I had an 
interest or held a position at the 
return date/at any time since 30 June

Nature of interest 
(if any)

Description of 
position (if any)

Description 
of principal 
objects (if any) 
of corporation 
(except in case of 
listed company)

F. �Were you a property developer or a close associate of a property developer on the return 
date? (Y/N)

G. Positions in trade unions and professional or business associations

Name of each trade union and each professional or business association in 
which I held any position (whether remunerated or not) at the return date/at 
any time since 30 June

Description of 
position

H. Debts

Name and address of each person to whom I was liable to pay any debt at the return date/at any 
time since 30 June

I. Dispositions of property

1 �Particulars of each disposition of real property by me (including the street address of the 
affected property) at any time since 30 June as a result of which I retained, either wholly or in 
part, the use and benefit of the property or the right to re-acquire the property at a later time

2 �Particulars of each disposition of property to a person by any other person under arrangements 
made by me (including the street address of the affected property), being dispositions made 
at any time since 30 June, as a result of which I obtained, either wholly or in part, the use and 
benefit of the property

J. Discretionary disclosures
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Schedule 3: 
Form of Special Disclosure of
Pecuniary Interest Submitted
Under Clause 4.37
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1.	 This form must be completed using block 
letters or typed.

2.	 If there is insufficient space for all the 
information you are required to disclose, 
you must attach an appendix which is to 
be properly identified and signed by you.

Important information
This information is being collected for the 
purpose of making a special disclosure of 
pecuniary interests under clause 4.36(c) of the 
Model Code of Conduct for Local Councils in 
NSW (the Model Code of Conduct). 

The special disclosure must relate only to a 
pecuniary interest that a councillor has in the 
councillor’s principal place of residence, or an 
interest another person (whose interests are 
relevant under clause 4.3 of the Model Code of 
Conduct) has in that person’s principal place of 
residence. 

Clause 4.3 of the Model Code of Conduct 
states that you will have a pecuniary interest in 
a matter because of the pecuniary interest of 
your spouse or your de facto partner or your 
relative or because your business partner or 
employer has a pecuniary interest. You will also 
have a pecuniary interest in a matter because 

you, your nominee, your business partner or 
your employer is a member of a company or 
other body that has a pecuniary interest in the 
matter. 

“Relative” is defined by clause 4.4 of the 
Model Code of Conduct as meaning your, your 
spouse’s or your de facto partner’s parent, 
grandparent, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, 
nephew, niece, lineal descendant or adopted 
child and the spouse or de facto partner of any 
of those persons.

You must not make a special disclosure that you 
know or ought reasonably to know is false or 
misleading in a material particular. Complaints 
about breaches of these requirements are to be 
referred to the Office of Local Government and 
may result in disciplinary action by the Chief 
Executive of the Office of Local Government or 
the NSW Civil and Administrative Tribunal.

This form must be completed by you before 
the commencement of the council or council 
committee meeting at which the special 
disclosure is being made. The completed form 
must be tabled at the meeting. Everyone is 
entitled to inspect it. The special disclosure 
must be recorded in the minutes of the 
meeting.
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Special disclosure of pecuniary interests by [full name of councillor]

in the matter of [insert name of environmental planning instrument]

which is to be considered at a meeting of the  
[name of council or council committee (as the case requires)]

to be held on the    day of        20  .

Pecuniary interest

Address of the affected principal place of 
residence of the councillor or an associated 
person, company or body (the identified land)

 

Relationship of identified land to councillor

[Tick or cross one box.]

 �The councillor has an interest in the land (e.g. 
is the owner or has another interest arising out 
of a mortgage, lease, trust, option or contract, 
or otherwise).

 �An associated person of the councillor has an 
interest in the land.

 �An associated company or body of the 
councillor has an interest in the land.

Matter giving rise to pecuniary interest1

Nature of the land that is subject to a change 
in zone/planning control by the proposed LEP 
(the subject land)2 

[Tick or cross one box]

 �The identified land.

 �Land that adjoins or is adjacent to or is in 
proximity to the identified land.

Current zone/planning control

[Insert name of current planning instrument and 
identify relevant zone/planning control applying 
to the subject land]

1	� Clause 4.1 of the Model Code of Conduct provides that a pecuniary interest is an interest that a person has 
in a matter because of a reasonable likelihood or expectation of appreciable financial gain or loss to the 
person. A person does not have a pecuniary interest in a matter if the interest is so remote or insignificant 
that it could not reasonably be regarded as likely to influence any decision the person might make in 
relation to the matter, or if the interest is of a kind specified in clause 4.6 of the Model Code of Conduct.

2	� A pecuniary interest may arise by way of a change of permissible use of land adjoining, adjacent to or in 
proximity to land in which a councillor or a person, company or body referred to in clause 4.3 of the Model 
Code of Conduct has a proprietary interest.
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Proposed change of zone/planning control

[Insert name of proposed LEP and identify 
proposed change of zone/planning control 
applying to the subject land]

Effect of proposed change of zone/planning 
control on councillor or associated person

[Insert one of the following: “Appreciable 
financial gain” or “Appreciable financial loss”]

 

[If more than one pecuniary interest is to be declared, reprint the above box and fill in for each 
additional interest.]

Councillor’s signature

Date

[This form is to be retained by the council’s general manager and included in full in the minutes of 
the meeting]
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Castlereagh Macquarie County Council 

 

Operational Plan Status Report  

2020/2021 

 

As at 30th September 2020 
6. Principal Activities of Council 
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Statement of Principal Activities to be undertaken to achieve objectives 
 
Note: In the following tables the column headed “BA & SO” provides in order, a reference to the Main Business Activity Priorities number and the Strategic 

Objective number from the Business Activity Strategic Plan. 

 
1. Provide information to Council to allow decisions at Council Meetings 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Ensure Business Paper is ready for 
distribution. 

 
 
Provide recommendations to Council 
when possible. 

 

2.3 
 
 

2.3 
 

GM 
 
 

GM 

At least 7 days, working days 
prior to the Council Meeting. 
 
Include in business paper for 
Council’s consideration. 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

Electronic business 
paper August issued 
on time 
Recommendations 
provided 

 
2. Respond to Councillor inquiries related to the administration function 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Provide information to Councillors 
within Council’s policy guidelines 
 
 
Provide written information as 
requested 

2.3 
 
 
 

2.3 

GM 
 
 
 

GM 

On day requested where 
possible, or within 5 working 
days (unless request requires 
detailed investigation). 
Within 5 working days (unless 
request requires detailed 
investigation  

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

Complying 
 
 
 
Complying 
 
 

 
 

3. Update Council policy register 
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Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Update new or amended 
administration policies in Council’s 
policy register. 
 
Review Council administration policies. 

2.3 
 
 

2.3 

GM 
 
 

GM 

Within 14 days of adoption or 
amendment 
 
Within 2 months of expiry of 
policy or every 2 years 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

Complying 
 
 
Review underway 

 
4. Provide information to public in a timely and effective manner 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Ensure Council business papers are 
made available in hard copy at 
Council’s office. 
Ensure other public information is 
made available at Council’s office. 
 
Ensure business papers are provided to 
constituent councils.  

 
Ensure minutes, business papers and 
other information is posted to 
Council’s website. 

 

2.1 
 
 

2.1 
 
 

2.1 
 
 

2.1 
 

GM 
 
 

GM 
 
 

GM 
 
 

GM 

At least 3 working days before 
the Council meeting. 
 
As soon as practicable after it 
becomes public information. 
 
Post to General Managers at 
the same time as Councillors’ 
business papers. 
As soon as practicable. 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

Complying 
 
 
Complying 
 
 
To commence 
November 2020 
 
Completed 

 
 
 
 
 

5. Ensure all statutory requirements are completed and financial returns and plans are completed and lodged by the due date 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 
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Quarterly Budget Review Statements 
and Delivery Programme Review to 
Council. 
Audited Financial Statements to 
Division of Local Government. 
Financial Data collection return. 
Notice of meeting at which audited 
reports are to be presented. 
Audited Financial Reports presented to 
public 
Draft Operational Plan and Budget on 
public exhibition. 
 
 
Operational Plan and Budget to be 
adopted 

2.2 
 
 

     2.2 
 
 

2.2 
 

2.2 
 
 

2.2 
 

     2.2 
     2.2 

GM 
 
 

   GM 
 
 

GM 
 

GM 
 
 

GM 
 

  GM 
  GM 

August, October, February and 
April Meetings. 
 
By the end of November. 
 
 
By date specified by Division of 
Local Government. 
Prior to December meeting. 
 
 
December meeting. 
 
Following April meeting. 
June meeting 
 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

Complying 
 
 
Underway 
 
 
Underway 
 
Special meeting to be 
scheduled 
 
Special meeting to be 
scheduled 
In new year 
In new year 

 

6. Ensure all other statutory returns are completed and lodged by the due date  

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Pecuniary Interest Returns. 
 
Council’s Annual Report prepared and 
lodged with Division of Local 
Government 
 
Other returns as required by Division of 
Local Government, Department of 
Primary Industries, or others 

2.2 
 

2.2 
 
 
 

2.2 
 

GM 
 

GM 
 
 
 

GM 

30 September annually. 
 
30 November annually. 
 
 
 
No later than return date 
specified 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

Complying 
 
In progress 
 
 
 
In progress 

7. Implementation of Council decisions 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 
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Implement Council decisions following 
Council meeting 

 
 

2.2 GM Within 10 working days of 
Council Meeting 
 
For prosecutions, within 2 
months of Council resolution 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

Complying 
 
 
Nil prosecutions 

 
8. Continue to ensure the provision of finance to Council from available sources 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Liaise with constituent councils 
regarding the level of Council 
contributions and the apportionment of 
contributions. 
Letter to Constituent Councils 
concerning Council’s proposed Delivery 
Plan and Budget estimates for the 
forthcoming financial year, and the 
contribution sought from constituent 
councils. 
 
Application to Department of Primary 
Industries for grants under NSW Weeds 
Action Programme as necessary. 
 
Provide grant returns to Department of 
Primary Industries. 
Pursue opportunities for securing grant 
funds from other available sources. 

 

2.4 
 
 
 

2.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2.4 
 
 

 
2.4 

 
2.4 & 

1.4 

GM 
 
 
 

GM 
 
 
 
 
 
 

GM 
 
 
 

GM 
 

GM 

Continuously. 
 
 
 
30 April. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
As required under Weeds 
Action Programme 1520. 
 
 
As required under Weeds 
Action  
Programme 1520 
As required 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

Advised 
 
 
 
Copies of budget sent 
to Constituents 
 
 
 
 
 
Completed 
 
 
 
Completed  
 
Application 
submitted 

 

9. Continue current financial management direction and review Business Activity Strategic Plan and Delivery Programme 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 
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Review Business Activity Strategic Plan. 
 
Review Delivery Programme. 
 
Provide adequate funds for employee 
leave entitlements. 

 

2.1 & 
2.4 

 
2.1 & 

2.4 
 

2.3 

GM 
 

GM 
 

GM 
 

Continuously 
 
Continuously 
 
Maintain reserve of at least 
50% of Long Service Leave 
liability 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

In progress 
 
In progrerss 
 
Provision 20-21 
budget 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11. Ensure that Council’s Operational Plan and Budget is considered in order to allow adoption by 30 June each year 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Draft Plan to be presented to Council. 
 
Draft Plan adopted to allow 28 day 
public exhibition. 
Draft Plan to be adopted following 
consideration of any submissions 
received. 

2.2 
 

2.2 
 

2.2 

GM 
 
GM 

 
GM 

April Meeting. 
 
April Meeting. 
 
June Meeting. 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

In new year 
 
In new year 
 
In new year 

 
12. Promote the Council’s interests through participation with relevant organisations   

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

10. Provide financial information and advice to Council 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Provide financial advice as required. 
 
Provide quarterly update on financial 
trends relating to Council’s 
expenditure. 

2.2 & 
2.3 

 
2.2 &.3 

GM 
 

GM 

At Council meetings 
 
At Council Meeting following 
end of quarter 

Satisfactory completion of 
task in accordance with 
target level. 

Complying 
 
Complying 
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Participate in Macquarie Valley Weeds 
Advisory Committee activities through 
attendance at meetings and supply of 
information as required to assist the 
lobbying of State and Federal 
Governments. 

 

1.1 GM Attend meetings and provide 
information as requested. 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

No meetings 

 
13. Provide active support for LGNSW 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Provide information as requested by 
LGNSW to assist it to lobby governments. 
 
Utilise the services of LGNSW to further 
Council’s interests 

 

3.1 
 

 
3.1 

GM 
 

 
GM 

Information to be provided by the 
date requested. 
 
As and when required by Council. 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

Complying 
 
 
Complying 

 
14. Actively pursue politicians to further Council’s interests 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Invite politicians to attend Council 
meetings. 
 
Meet with State and Federal 
Politicians to promote the interests of 
Council. 

 
 

3.1 
 

3.1 

GM 
 
GM 

 

Politicians to be invited to Council 
meetings as required. 
As required 
 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

Complying 
 
Complying 

15. Minimise the risks associated with all functions of Council 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 
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Identify new risks associated with 
Council’s functions. 
Analyse and prioritise all risks 
identified. 
Minise exposure through rectification 
of risks. 
Update policy on the use of 
contractors. 
Review risk management policy. 
Update Risk Assessment re spraying 
from back of vehicles and consult 
WorkCover on proposal. 

 

2.3 
 

2.3 
 

2.3 
 

2.3 
 

2.3 
2.3 

GM 
 

GM 
 
GM 

 
GM 

 
GM 
GM 

Ongoing. 
 
Within 3 months after 
identification. 
Within budget constraints. 
 
Ongoing. 
 
Ongoing. 
When resources allow. 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

Complying 
 
 

 
16. Ensure Council staff are aware of their rights and responsibilities in relation to WH&S , risk management and EEO 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Provide training to staff on relevant 
legislation. 
 
Provide training on EEO to staff. 
 
Provide staff with training on risk 
management. 
 
Review and update staff training 
programme. 
Review EEO Management Plan. 

 

2.3 
 
 

2.3 
 

2.3 
 
 

2.3 
 

     2.3 

GM 
 
 
GM 

 
GM 

 
 
GM 

 
GM 

Ongoing as identified. 
 
 
Ongoing as required. 
 
Ongoing as required. 
 
 
Annually. 
 
As required 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

Complying 
 
 
No training to date 
 
Training held in 
Coonamble August 
2020 
In progress 
 
In new year 
 

 
17. Maintain and update Council’s records management system 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 
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Monitor record keeping procedures to 
ensure that they provide the best 
method of maintaining an accurate 
record of Council’s activities. 
 
Review record keeping procedures with 
a view to updating and computerizing. 

 

2.3 
 
 

 
 

2.3 

GM 
 
 
 

 
GM 

Ongoing. 
 
 
 
 
Ongoing. 
 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

Complying 
 
 
 
 
Complying 

 
 

18. Implement system of information technology capable of providing information that is relevant and timely 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Monitor reporting system ability to 
provide information requirements. 
 
Monitor technology improvements and 
assess future requirements. 
 
Update Council’s computer system, 
both hardware and software, to ensure 
that it enhances management and 
record keeping (as resources allow). 
Review Council’s website and 
implement systems for expanding 
content and keeping content up to 
date. 

 

2.3 
 
 

2.3 
 
 

2.3 
 
 
 

2.1 & 
3.2 

GM 
 
 

GM 
 
 

GM 
 
 
 

GM 

Ongoing. 
 
 
Ongoing. 
 
 
As required. 
 
 
 
Ongoing. 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

Complying 
 
 
Complying 
 
 
Lap tops update 
regularly 
 
 
Review underway 

19. Compile accurate data on the condition of current Council assets 

Required Activity BA & SO Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 
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Maintain assets register for all assets 
over $5,000. 
 
Monitor the condition of those assets 
 
Identify maintenance requirements for 
those assets. 
 
Cost maintenance requirements and 
incorporate into annual budget. 

 

2.3 
 
 

2.3 
 

2.3 
 

 
2.3 

GM 
 
 

GM 
 

GM 
 
 
GM 

 

Ongoing. 
 
 
Ongoing. 
 
Ongoing. 
 
 
As identified. 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

In progress 
 
 
Continuing 
 
Maintenance as 
required 
 
In progress 

 
20. Introduce a system for electronic mapping of noxious weed infestations and the automation of Weeds Officers’ reports 

Required Activity BA & SO Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Monitor the introduction of electronic 
mapping of noxious weed infestations 
and the automation of Weeds 
Officers’ reporting procedures. 
 
Expand the introduction of electronic 
mapping of noxious weeds infestation 
and the automation of Weeds 
Officers’ Reporting Procedures to the 
whole of Council’s Area of Operations. 
Continue the training of staff in the 
use of the system in order to ensure 
it’s most efficient and effective use. 

1.3 & 
2.3 

 
 

 
 

1.3 & 
2.3 

 
 
1.3 &2.3 
 

GM 
SWO 

 
 
 
GM 

SWO 
 
 

 
GM 
SWO 

 

In conjunction with year 1 WAP 
1520. 
 
 
 
 
In conjunction with year 1 WAP 
1520. 
 
 
Ongoing. 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

In progress 
 
 
 
 
 
Continuing 
 
 
 
Training as necessary 
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21. Compile data on Council’s current vehicle and plant fleet – condition and usage 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Analyse Council’s current vehicle and 
plant fleet and its activities and assess 
future vehicle and plant needs. 
 

2.3 GM Ongoing Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

In progress 

 

22. Ensure access to competitively priced chemicals for weeds control programmes 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Ensure access to competitively priced 
chemicals for weeds control 
programmes. 
 

1.2 GM 
 

As required Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

In progress 

 

23. Actively pursue the control of noxious weeds along roadsides in Council’s area 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Inspect roadsides prior to control 
 works  to ensure that control 
 programmes are efficient and  
effective. 
 
Carryout necessary control works 
 in line with Council’s Budget 
allocations. 
 
Respond to reports of noxious  
weeds on roadsides. 
Carry out control works in  
accordance with Council’s policy 
and budget allocations. 

1.3 
 
 
 
 

1.3 
 
 
 

1.3 
 

1.3 
 

SWO 
 
 
 
 

SWO 
 
 
 

SWO 
 

SWO 
 

At least one week prior to 
spraying. 
 
 
 
As seasonal conditions / and 
available funding permit. 
 
Carry out inspection within 7 
days of notification. 
As required 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

In progress 
 
 
 
 
Works continuing 
 
 
All reports 
responded to 
 
In progress 
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24. Actively pursue the control of noxious weeds on private lands 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Inspection of private lands to assist 
landowners to fulfill their legal 
responsibilities in relation to noxious 
weeds. 
Provide information to landowners on 
noxious weeds control 
 
Respond to noxious weed complaints 

1.2 & 
3.2 

 
 

1.2 & 
3.2 

 
1.2 & 

3.2 

SWO 
 
 

 
SWO 

 
 

SWO 

At least 250 inspections per 
quarter. 
 
 
If not done at time of inspection 
then within 1 week. 
 
Initial inspection within 10 
working days. 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

In progress 
 
 
 
Continuing 
 
 
Continuing 

 
25. Actively pursue the control of noxious weeds on vacant Crown lands 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Inspect vacant Crown land parcels to 
facilitate application to DPI for funds 
for necessary control works. 
 
Inspect vacant Crown lands to ensure 
obligations for noxious weed control 
are being met. 
 
Provide information to Department of 
Lands on noxious weed control 
requirements 
 
Respond to complaints for noxious 
weeds on vacant Crown Land 

1.2 
 
 
 

1.2 
 

 
 

1.2 
 

 
 

1.2 

SWO 
 
 
 

SWO 
 

 
 
SWO 

 
 
 
SWO 

Prior to submission of application. 
 
 
 
As required as resources are 
available. 
 
 
Within 10 working days of 
inspection. 
 
 
Initial inspection within 10 
working days. 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

Underway 
 
 
 
Continuing 
 
 
 
Continuing 
 
 
 
Continuing 

26. Actively pursue the control of noxious weeds on land held by Forests of NSW 
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Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Inspect areas proposed to be clear 
felled in coming financial year. 
 
Advise Forests NSW of proposed clear 
fell areas that are potential weeds 
risks. 
Follow up to ensure control work is 
carried out on potential weeds risks. 
Inspect areas surrounding standing 
forests and “land bank” areas. 
Advise Forests NSW of areas that pose 
a risk of weeds spreading to adjoining 
land. 

1.2 
 
 

1.2 
 

 
1.2 

 
1.2 

 
1.2 

 

SWO 
 
 

SWO 
 

 
SWO 
 
SWO 
 
SWO 

Within 28 days of receipt of 
Harvesting Plan of Operations. 
 
Within 14 days of inspection. 
 
 
Prior to Spring each year. 
 
Ongoing as resources permit, or in 
response to complaints within 10 
working da 
14 days after inspection. 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

When advised 

 
27. Actively pursue the control of noxious weeds on other public authorities land 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Inspect lands of public authorities to 
ensure obligations for noxious weeds 
control are being met. 
 
Provide information to public authority 
on noxious weed control 
requirements. 
 
Respond to complaints regarding 
noxious weeds on lands of public 
authorities. 

 

1.2 & 
1.3 

 
 

1.2 & 
1.3 

 
1.2 &1.3 

SWO 
 
 
 

SWO 
 

 
SWO 

Ongoing. 
 
 
 
Within 10 working days of 
inspection. 
 
Initial inspection within 10 
working days. 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

In progress 
 
 
 
Continuing 
 
 
Continuing 

28. Conduct aerial spraying programmes for noxious weeds 

134



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
29. Actively pursue regional resources sharing with neighbouring councils and other public authorities to provide cost benefits to Council 

in the provision of services 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Pursue resource sharing through 
regular interaction with nearby 
councils and other public authorities 
to discuss regional weed plans and 
coordinated approaches to weed 
control 

 
 
 

1.1 GM Liaise with appropriate members 
and officers of surrounding 
councils and other public 
authorities as required. 

Satisfactory completion 
of task in accordance 
with target level. 

Continuing 

 

Required Activity BA & 
SO 

Resp Target Performance Measure Status as at 30th 
September 2020 

Organise programmes for aerial 
spraying of noxious weeds throughout 
the year as seasonal conditions permit 
and demand requires. 
 
Publicise aerial spraying programmes in 
local media, and as occasion permits, to 
ensure maximum landholder 
participation. 

 
Organise aerial spraying (involving all 
weeds officers) throughout Council’s 
area in accordance with programmes. 

 

1.2 
 
 

 
 

1.2 
 
 
 

 
1.2 

GM/SWO 
 
 

 
 
GM/SWO 

 
 
 

 
SWO 

As required. 
 
 
 
 
As required. 
 
 
 
 
In accordance with 
Programmes 

Satisfactory completion of 
task in accordance with 
target level. 

NIL required to date 
 
 
 
 
Nil required to date 
 
 
 
 
No program 
organised 
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